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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B %5 8 2

The board (the “Board") of directors(the “Directors”) of Hainan Meilan International /SR EBEBEEERHBBR QR A TEEI E@MES]
Airport Company Limited (the “Meilan Airport” or the “Company”, together ZH[ARAQT | ERHEWBAFTSH AE@)EE([E
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to announce the operation results of ZE & ((BEE®)MAAMGARABE_T_=ZF~
the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023, and the unaudited financial A=+ Bt XERZELIER  BARAREREES
results reviewed by the audit committee of the Company(the “Audit Committee”) ([(BREEE|)EHZAEBALEANBEER-F
together with the prospects for the second half of 2023. ZEFET¥FRE -

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRAILAEA

(RMB'000) 2023 2022 Change
(AREFTT) —E—= —E—— )
Turnover = Lt 1,065,947 622,634 71.20%
Gross Profit* EF* 94,132 103,997 -9.49%
Net loss attributable to shareholders AR R PR F 18 (50,620) (11,788) -329.42%
Loss per share-basic (RMB Yuan) BREE - EXN(ARET) (0.11) (0.02) -450.00%
Net operating cash flow BERSFRE 238,529 191,012 24.88%
EBITDA EBITDA 445,022 240,447 85.08%
*  Gross profit is calculated as revenue minus cost of sales. * EFEREEBAREEERAE -
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
(RMB’000) R-EZ=F RZZZ=F Change
(ANR#FT) AA=+H +ZA=+—H #
Total assets BEE 12,069,366 10,639,551 13.44%
Total liabilities BeE 7,719,271 6,233,031 23.84%
Shareholders’ equity AR i 4,350,095 4,406,520 -1.28%
Current ratio mE L 11.90% 8.00% 3.90%
Gearing ratio BEAEBEEX 63.96% 58.58% 5.37%

SECCETHRE SR ERERTAERNERAA



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEwED T

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group's total revenue amounted
to RMB1,065,946,966, representing an increase of 71.20% as compared to the
corresponding period of 2022. Net loss attributable to shareholders amounted
to RMB50,620,355 (the corresponding period of 2022: net loss attributable to
shareholders of RMB11,788,124). Loss per share amounted to RMBO0.11 (the
corresponding period of 2022: loss per share of RMB0.02).

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Civil Aviation Industry of China

In the first half of 2023, China’'s civil aviation industry firmly established the concept
of safe development, strictly implemented safety responsibilities, strengthened
the safety awareness and safety management of all employees, deepened the
investigation and rectification of hidden dangers, systematically managed and
controlled various safety risks, efficiently coordinated safe operation and resumption
of production. The Civil Aviation Administration of China (the “CAAC") has adhered
to the principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability, progressing step by
step, and scientifically researched and judged the situation of market recovery trend,
and based on the results of dynamic safety assessment, carried out classification
differentiation control of the operation volume of airlines and the airport, and
promoted the recovery of the aviation market in stages and in an orderly manner
according to the principle of “Safety First, Market-driven, Support Takes Priority”.
As of 30 June 2023, the industry had completed 53.13 billion ton kilometers of
transportation, 284 million passenger carriers and 3.276 million tons of cargo and
mail transportation, representing 84.6%, 88.2% and 93.1% of the corresponding
period in 2019, respectively. At present, the safety situation has generally remained
stable, the whole industry has formed a consensus on safe and orderly recovery,
and the transportation and production as a whole have shown a good situation of
stable recovery, safe operation, and orderly competition. Steady progress was made
in deepening reform in important areas, international exchanges and cooperation
in civil aviation continued to deepen, various special aircraft, charters and major
transportation support tasks were successfully fulfilled, and new results were
achieved in the high-quality development of civil aviation.

In July 2023, the CAAC issued the “Guideline on Implementing the Overall
Deployment of Construction of Digital China to Accelerate the Development of
Smart Civil Aviation Construction (B EEEFTH B ERGE RS MREESEE
RMiEREEMNIEEZR)" ("Guideline”), which aims to implement the “Overall
Layout Plan for Digital China Construction (BiF B X EEHHRE)" and
“Guideline on Building a Data Infrastructure System to Better Make Use of the
Functions of Data Elements (BN EEEBEERTHEEFEBEIREXREANE
8)", better coordinate the construction of new infrastructure, activate the potential
of data elements, and give full play to the role of smart civil aviation construction as
an innovation engine in promoting the high-quality development of civil aviation. As
a document which follows the past and inspires the next, the Guideline is not only
the top-level design document for the CAAC to implement the overall deployment
of construction of Digital China, but also a guiding document to coordinate and
lead the smart civil aviation construction and big data construction in the industry
and other work. It will comprehensively promote the digital transformation and
intelligent operation of the industry and provide support for the joint acceleration of
the construction of a new digital ecology of civil aviation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Guideline proposes to follow the strategic path of having solid foundation,
digital empowerment, ability improvement, and environmental optimisation, in order
to comprehensively improve the systematization, synergy and safety of smart civil
aviation construction, promote the digital transformation and intelligent operation of
the industry, and compose a better chapter of civil aviation for the powerful state of
transportation, which will contribute to promoting Chinese-style modernization. The
Guideline also put forward four working principles, including “Deepening Reform,
Innovation-driven”, “Systematic Layout, Digital Empowerment”, “Independence
and Controllability, Safety and Reliability” and “Open Cooperation, Mutual Benefit
and Win-win” and clarified the main goals of the digital transformation and
development of the industry by 2027 and 2035.

The Group will follow the requirements of each document issued by the CAAC,
focus on the working objectives such as “Safe Development”, “Smart Civil
Aviation” and “Sincere Service”, and constantly improve the service quality and
operational efficiency of Meilan Airport.

Tourism in Hainan Province

During the period ended 30 June 2023, the province received a total of 46,065,900
domestic and foreign tourists, representing a year-on-year increase of 32.8%, and
the total tourism revenue was about RMB91.611 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 42.4%.

On 22 March 2023, the Hainan Provincial Tourism, Culture, Radio, Film and
Television Sports Department (BREAREM\LEEEFE)

Tourism and Culture Department”) held a special investment promotion meeting

(the “Hainan

for the tourism, culture and conservation industry, taking advantage of the holding
Zo=(PENH
48 LB KE) in Haikou. As one of Hainan's leading industries, tourism plays an
important role in Hainan's economic development. Hainan actively cultivates new

of the 2023 (China) County Economic Development Conference (—

forms of tourism consumption and new attractions, promotes the upgrading of
quality of the tourism industry, warmly welcomes more people to focus on Hainan,
shares the development results of the construction of the free trade ports, and
shares the benefits of reform and opening up.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

In May 2023, Boao Dongyu Island Resort was officially awarded the National
Tourism Resort, realising the progress of breakthrough in the construction of
advanced tourism core attractions in Hainan Province. Focusing on the existing
hardware facilities of Boao Dongyu Island Resort, it has built a core area for
international and domestic high-end conference service functions, and at the same
time launched a rich and diversified product portfolio including health and tourism,
parent-child research and study, leisure, entertainment, and sports. Together
with the Sanya Yalong Bay Resort, which was previously evaluated, they would
jointly lead the new era of Hainan tourism vacation in the north and in the south,
respectively. Hainan Province attaches great importance to the establishment work,
formulates special plans, and accelerates the establishment work through provincial
and municipal linkage, expert guidance, and quality improvement and upgrading of
resort areas. The establishment of a national tourist resort is an important step to
promote and lead the transformation of the tourism industry from sightseeing to
leisure vacation. It is also an important measure to help build Hainan International
Tourism Consumption Center and create a Hainan vacation paradise.

On 21 June 2023, a press conference on measures to promote consumption in
Hainan Province in 2023 was held in Haikou. The Hainan Tourism and Culture
Department has formulated the “Implementation Plan for the Issuance of Tourism
Consumption Vouchers in Hainan Province in 2023 (ZZ = = F)§ F A Ik 18 B 5 5%
E 5 Z)" which would encourage cities, counties and enterprises to participate
in supporting funds by issuing RMB50 million of tourism consumption vouchers, and
increase the attractiveness of Hainan tourism. The issuance timing of the tourism
consumption vouchers was well-chosen to be before the Dragon Boat Festival, with
an aim to stimulate consumption during the festival, attracting students and parents
and so on to travel to Hainan for summer vacation. At the same time, the leverage
effect is strengthened in the regions and tourism products with large pull effect and
great marketing results, and strive to obtain the maximum comprehensive benefits.

On 1 July 2023, the Hainan Tourism Development Research Institute was launched
in Haikou. The research institute has a theoretical research center, an applied
research center, an academic exchange center, a talent training center and a data
information center, which will carry out theoretical and empirical research focusing
on the relevant fields of the high-quality development of Hainan’s tourism industry
and the construction of international tourism consumption centers. The business
scope is divided into five major sectors such as tourism development strategy
research, policy research on the construction of Hainan International Tourism
Consumption Center, academic exchanges on tourism development, training
and exchanges of tourism talents and statistical analysis of tourism consumption
data. According to the plan, the research institute will make full use of the policy
advantages of Hainan Free Trade Port (“Hainan Free Trade Port") to actively carry
out strategic, forward-looking and applied industrial policy, industrial development,
service system research, and capacity building for high-quality development of
Hainan tourism industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since 00:00 on 15 March 2023, China has officially resumed various visa-free
policies including the examination and issuance of visas for foreigners to China
by visa authorities stationed abroad and the resumption of visa-free entry in
Hainan. Hainan Province began to receive inbound tourist groups since March,
showcasing the start of the resumption of Hainan inbound tourism. The Hainan
Tourism and Culture Department will continue to promote the introduction of
support policies for the inbound tourism market, including support measures for
the development of the inbound tourism market and financial subsidy policies for
civil aviation passenger transportation. It will promote the optimisation of subsidies
for civil aviation, encourage airlines and charters to open direct routes abroad, and
increase the number of inbound tourists, as well as to promote the optimisation
of visa exemption policies, expand the scope of visa exemption, and enhance
the convenience of visa exemption. It will also encourage tourism enterprises to
develop the inbound market by introducing measures to support the Hainan inbound
tourism market. More convenient immigration control measures will promote
the construction of Hainan Free Trade Port and Hainan International Tourism
Consumption Center and enhance the internationalization level of Hainan tourism.

Tourism Highlights of Hainan Province
In the first half of 2023, Hainan Province has adopted a series of measures to
stimulate consumption vitality and promote the recovery of the tourism market.

The construction of key tourism projects in Hainan Province is progressing in an
orderly manner:

- Hainan Island Tourism Highway is an important carrier to promote the
construction of international tourism islands and international tourism
consumption center. On 30 June 2023, the construction of the subgrade
section of the main line of Hainan Island Tourism Highway was completed.
As of now, the project has completed a total investment of RMB11.23 billion,
accounting for 72% of the total investment budget. The construction of the
remaining seven special structure bridges and electromechanical greening is
progressing steadily. It is expected that the whole line will be completed and
opened to traffic by the end of December 2023. The opening of tourist roads
around Hainan Island will promote the integration of Hainan tourism, help
to adjust the imbalance of development of tourism in the east and west of
Hainan, and at the same time radiate benefits to the central region, forming a
balanced trend of tourism development in the whole region, bringing tourism
and economic development opportunities to more cities and counties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB AT

The Haikou International Duty-Free City project is located in the sub-center
of the West Coast of Haikou City, close to the new seaport, an important
transportation hub of Haikou. It is a two-wheel-driven retail tourism complex
with “duty-free + culture and tourism” with the duty-free business as the
traffic inflow built by China Duty Free Group Co., Ltd. (“CDF") under China
Tourism Group. Among them, cdf Haikou International Duty-Free City, located
in land parcel no. 5, has commenced operation in 2022 with a gross floor area
of about 289,000 square metres, making it the world's largest single duty-free
store. At present, the supporting projects of four land parcels of the project
are under simultaneous construction. The four land parcels are positioned as
super-grade A landmark office buildings, characteristic commercial buildings,
high-quality talent communities and theme hotels. The total construction area
of the characteristic commercial buildings is about 58,000 square meters,
including three buildings, which are expected to be completed within the
year.

Various types of recreational activities launched in full swing:

10

In June 2023, the Hainan Tourism and Culture Department decided to
implement the “Let Hainan Tourism Flourish in the Off Season (:%/8 & k%
KZEREHEZR)" campaign across the industry, so as to make Hainan tourism
flourish in the off season, focusing on the theme of “Welcome from Cool
Hainan (BB 808 FEECGLER)" According to the plan, the Hainan Tourism
and Culture Department will launch a number of measures in four aspects
such as building a composite tourism product system, carrying out all-round
tourism promotion and marketing, accelerating targeted tourism integration
and creating better tourism market services.

On 28 June 2023, "Forgetting about the summer heat with the fun and
unparalleled 2023 International Duty-Free Thematic Event of Haikou” (/%%
TRIZIERRIL-FT_=B0BK 2B EEET]) was launched.
Focusing on the summer peak season for tourism and the Jay Chou concert,
thematic discount activities such as “consumption waiver, discount, service
for the fans, picture posting while on travel” which are based on the five
major sectors including “duty-free, characteristic cultural business district,
long-established brands and specialty food and beverages, night market,
business circle” have been planned and launched. The three major duty-free
enterprises of CDF, Hainan Holdings Global Boutique and Shenzhen Duty
Free Group focus on hot spots and carry out exclusive preferential activities
for fans of Jay Chou in their duty-free cities. Through offering substantial
discounts on commodities, exquisite theme gift, and other means to attract
tourists, duty-free consumption in Haikou was empowered.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

- The 2023 second Hainan International Offshore Duty-free Shopping Festival
hosted by the People’s Government of Hainan Province and organised by
the Department of Commerce of Hainan Province was officially opened in
cdf Haikou International Duty-Free City on 4 July 2023. The theme of this
year's shopping festival is “Enjoy Duty-free Shopping in Hainan (Bi#/&F
%= % 7)" which is planned to last for two months until the end of August.
Through issuing offshore duty-free shopping consumption vouchers, holding
joyful summer parent-child duty-free shopping and other theme marketing
activities, it will bring consumers diversified theme activities, high-quality
shopping experience and enriched product supply and bundle deals, so
that consumers can fully enjoy offshore duty-free shopping in Hainan. Six
stores of CDF in Hainan region will combine more than 800 domestic and
international brands in 45 duty-free categories to bring a series of marketing
activities including brand first-store debut, new product debut, celebrity in-
store activities, CDF exclusive packages, duty-free exclusive privileges,
flash interactive experiences, etc., and launch a number of activities such as
“Children’s Fashion Show" and “Fragrance Festival” in different time slots
to create more complex consumption scenes combined with “Parent-Child
Tour”, “Study Tour”, “Graduation Tour” and other current hot spots. At the
same time, during the shopping festival, six stores of CDF in Hainan will also
visit 10 key domestic cities to launch thematic promotion activities to further
expand the market presence of the offshore duty-free in Hainan and release
the strong magnetic power of the offshore duty-free in Hainan.

The Group will pay close attention to the development of tourism in Hainan
Province, actively cooperate with the local government for the promotion and
marketing of the tourism market, and seize the development opportunities to help
Meilan Airport achieve another record of passenger and cargo and mail throughput.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Transportation within the Island

In recent years, the transportation industry in Hainan Province has continuously
promoted the leapfrog development of the industry. Transportation investment
has hit a record high, serving economic growth prominently. The infrastructure
network has been gradually improved, and the goal of “expressway connecting
to all counties (3= k)" has been successfully completed; The “Five Ports
in Four Directions (F975 71)8)" pattern has been more optimised, and port service
guarantee capabilities have been significantly improved. The “flight economic circle
of four hours and eight hours (Z9/)\i§ ) \/NEFFR T T4E 75 )" for civil aviation has been
preliminarily constructed; The transportation of the whole province has moved from
providing a strong guarantee for
accelerating the construction of Hainan Free Trade Port.

“basic adaptation” to “moderate advancement,”

- On the highway side, the overall progress of the ground auxiliary road
project in the Haikou section of G15 Shenyang-Haikou Expressway has
been completed by about 40%, striving to meet the opening conditions by
the end of the year. The construction of the project will connect the G98
Island Ring Expressway with the G15 high-speed overhead, and at the same
time connect the transportation hubs such as port areas, railway stations,
airports, etc., to build an integrated comprehensive transportation system of
highways, ports, railways and aviation, which is of great significance to the
regional economic development.

The construction of the subgrade section of the main line of Hainan Island
Ring Tourism Highway has been completed, and the construction of
bridges, electromechanical and greening is currently under way. The Hainan
Island Ring Tourism Highway is a leading major infrastructure project for
the construction of Hainan Free Trade Port and the establishment of an
international tourism consumption center. The main line of the highway
has a total mileage of 988.2 kilometers, connecting the characteristic bay,
promontory, characteristic towns and tourist attractions along the way, and
coastal resort areas.

The construction process of Meilan Airport Expressway Project is progressing
steadily. At present, the overall image project progress of the project has
been completed about 60%. Meilan Airport Expressway Project starts from
Haiwen North Road in the north and connects Guilinyang in the south. The
total length of the route is 5.389 kilometers. The whole line mainly adopts
the form of elevated expressway, and the main line elevated standard
section adopts two-way six-lane scale. After the project is completed, it will
effectively shorten the driving time between Meilan Airport and Qiongbei
area, significantly improve the traffic conditions from Meilan Airport to the
urban area, and meet the needs of rapid passage in key surrounding areas.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

- As for the port, the Haikou new port integrated transportation hub project
has entered the sprinting phase and is scheduled to be fully completed this
year. As the “second tier port” and gateway port of Hainan Free Trade Port,
after the project is completed, it will become the largest comprehensive hub
for passenger roll-on/roll-off in the country that integrates functions such as
the port for waiting to aboard, port for boarding and disembarking, port for
inspection, hub for commerce and “zero-interchange transportation”. It can
realise the “zero-interchange” for tourists travelling across the sea, improve
the service level of the new Haikou port, promote the development of
surrounding tourism, cultural and commercial complementary services, and
provide important port facilities for the lockdown operation of Hainan Island.

Offshore Duty-free

Currently, the tourism market in Hainan has gradually recovered, and the offshore
duty-free market in Hainan has continued to be popular, which has become an
important window for Hainan to attract international consumption to return.

In order to support the construction of Hainan Free Trade Port, further enhance
the shopping experience of offshore travelers, and provide consumers with more
diversified and convenient options, the General Administration of Customs of
the People’'s Republic of China, the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic
of China, and the State Taxation Administration issued the “Announcement on
Increasing Picking-up methods of ‘Guarantee and Pick-up” and ‘Buy and Pick-up” for
Offshore Duty-Free Shopping in Hainan” (R E ISR EES 2B ERBNE]
AIENEERNIR IR E A N AA %)) (the “Announcement”) on 21 I\/Iarch 2023, starting
from 1 April 2023, on the basis of “mail delivery (E3Z7ixiE)" and *
island for collection (IR &#2E)", two new picking-up methods of “guarantee and
pick-up (JEREEE)" and “buy and pick-up (BNEEEN$Z)" were added. When offshore
travellers purchase duty-free goods in Hainan offshore duty-free shops (excluding

‘return to the

online sales windows) with valid identity documents or travel documents and
offshore information, except for picking up goods in designated areas of airports,
railway stations and docks, as well as electing mail delivery or returning to the island
for collection by residents in the island, they can choose “guarantee and pick-up (¥&
TRENER)"
and choose “buy and pick-up (BPEEBI$E)" for duty-free goods with a unit price of no

for duty-free goods with a unit price of more than RMB50,000 (inclusive),
more than RMB20,000 (exclusive) and in the list of the Announcement.

In order to ensure the smooth implementation of the new delivery method, Haikou
Customs has correspondingly upgraded the offshore duty-free supervision system
in accordance with the policy content to meet the needs of “guarantee and pick-
up (JE/REN4R)" passengers for physical verification; Haikou Customs has set up
seven physical verification points at Hainan airports, and outbound ports for trains
and ships. Supervision system is deployed, which can quickly obtain commodity
information and passenger shopping information, and efficiently handle physical
verification business for passengers. At the same time, it also optimises the
procedures for handling security deposits. The customs and bank customs tax
security deposits account can be linked in transactions, and passengers can directly
pay security deposits to the customs account to ensure that security deposits are
collected and refunded safely and efficiently.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

To thoroughly utilise the consumption potential of international travelers and
attract the return of consumption, cdf Meilan Airport duty-free shops launched
the intercontinental flights exclusive benefit activity in July 2023. Travelers on
international flights transiting through Haikou to domestic cities can enjoy a 15%
discount on top of the offshore duty-free prices offered by cdf Meilan Airport duty-
free shops by presenting their Haikou inbound boarding passes, which are within
72 hours (3 days), for international sections (such as Sydney-Haikou, Melbourne-
Haikou), resident identity cards (for Chinese travelers) or passports (for foreign
travelers) to register at the main service counter of cdf Meilan Airport duty-free
shops.

Thanks to the continuous adjustment and optimisation of the offshore duty-free
policy and the favorable impact of the construction of Hainan Free Trade Port, the
amount of offshore duty-free sales has increased year by year, from the initial
annual sales of less than RMB1 billion to over RMB10 billion in 2019. After the
implementation of new offshore duty-free policy on 1 July 2020, the sales amount
reached RMB27.5 billion that year, demonstrating good growth momentum.
According to statistics from Haikou Customs, since the implementation of the new
policy on 1 July 2020, as of 30 June 2023, Haikou Customs had supervised a total
of RMB130.7 billion in offshore duty-free purchases, 17.67 million tourist shoppers
and 175 million commodities sold.

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the retail sales of offshore duty-free goods
in Hainan Province amounted to approximately RMB26.318 billion, the number of
duty-free shoppers was approximately 3.7334 million and the number of duty-free
commodities sold was approximately 30.8624 million, representing year-on-year
increase of 24.38%, 45.39% and 1.17%, respectively.

BUSINESS AND REVENUE REVIEW

Overview

In the first half of 2023, under the complex international environment, the Chinese
economy showed development resilience. The Chinese economy has steadily
advanced along the path of high-quality development. The overall operation of
the Chinese economy has shown a recovery trend, market demand has gradually
recovered, production and supply have continued to increase, resident income
have grown steadily, and consumption potentials have been gradually released.
In this context, the Group took multiple measures simultaneously, continued to
exert efforts, and focused on the recovery of flight routes with multiple indicators
returning to the pre-epidemic level.

Since 1 January 2023, the Company has been responsible for the overall operation
of the relevant assets Meilan Airport Phase | and Il. As the Company will operate
all the leased assets with a leasing model, this will enable the Company to better
operate its operating assets in accordance with the prevailing standard of “high
standards with stringent requirements” in the civil aviation industry. In addition, on
18 April 2023, the Company and Haimian Haikou Meilan Airport Duty-Free Shop
Co., Ltd. (B®R/BOEMKISEFEHFR A A) made adjustments to the relevant
agreements previously entered, including the extension of the terms of the
agreements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 25 June 2023, Meilan Airport received the official reply from the CAAC regarding
the adjustment of the slot capacity. According to the official reply, the capacity
standard during peak hours of Meilan Airport will be adjusted from 30 flights per
hour (i.e., no more than 29 flights per hour will be arranged, and the use of the
remaining 1 flight will be determined by the CAAC, and no more than 85 flights will
be arranged for 3 consecutive hours. The standard has been implemented since 1
January 2017) to 40 flights per hour (i.e., the slot coordination parameter will not
exceed 39 flights per hour, and the use of the remaining 1 flight will be determined
by the CAAC) which has been implemented since 25 June 2023. This capacity
adjustment provides a solid foundation for Meilan Airport’s future development.

In the first half of 2023, Meilan Airport received many domestic and international
awards for its excellent passenger service experience: in total 39 awards at
industrial, provincial and ministerial levels or above, including 3 important
international awards, 21 national awards, 15 provincial awards, and 35 industrial and
honorable awards. Internationally, Meilan Airport won three global awards granted
by SKYTRAX : “Best Regional Airport in China”, “Best Airport Staff in China” and
“Best Clean Airport in China”. Domestically, Meilan Airport was granted a number
of prestigious awards including the title of “2022 Two-Star “Dual Carbon” Airport”
by the China Civil Airports Association. The end-to-end luggage tracking system of
Meilan Airport and the Meilan Airport Smart Pandemic Prevention Platform were
awarded the “2022-2023 Civil Aviation Enterprise Digital Transformation Benchmark
Case (ZE-=— - —ZE-—FERMOPEHF(LERIZIEZRM)" by the civil aviation
information technology application branch of China Computer Users Association (7
Bzt HE# AP E). These honors indicated that the service quality and business
standard of Meilan Airport has been highly recognized and endorsed by the vast
number of passengers and authoritative institutions, which has improved the brand
awareness and industry influence of Meilan Airport.

With respect to the construction of smart airport, in April 2023, Meilan Airport online
integrity education base — “Clean Airport — Sunny Meilan Platform” (& Bz ef5
Y ERIFA) was launched, realising the innovation of Meilan Airport's integrity
education system, providing lightweight, systematic and personalised integrity
learning services for the party members, cadres and employees of Meilan Airport,
and fully empowering the digital transformation of integrity education for the party
members, cadres and employees.

In order to comprehensively support the airport operation and management related
links and achieve a more intelligent management system, the Meilan Airport Smart
Large Service Platform Product Service Project (EZ2ARBEFEERRSIER)
commenced trial operation in May 2023. After optimisation, it will build an intelligent
service platform integrating intelligent travel, intelligent service, intelligent operation
and intelligent management and control. With the core concepts of globalisation,
integration, digitalisation and intelligence, it will help Meilan Airport to transform and
upgrade digitally.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Combined with the needs of Meilan Airport’s VIP service business changes, in June
2023, Meilan Airport's new VIP management system was put into trial operation.
The system finally realised the closed-loop management of Meilan Airport's VIP
service, and built a one-stop platform of “VIP management + service".

In the first half of 2023, Meilan Airport Hotel won a total of 13 awards including
“2022 Star Hotel” by the comprehensive travel platform “Fliggy (R#&k7T)",
“2022 Most Popular Hotel” by Trip.com Group, “Top 100 Mid-to-High-end Hotels
in China” and “Top Ten Hotels in Haikou” by MCI Consumer Favourite List. Meilan
Airport Hotel has been promoting social awareness and increasing the exposure of
the hotel through channels such as radio and internet topics. Meilan Airport Hotel
served approximately 226,600 guests during the six months ended 30 June 2023,
with a room occupancy rate of 85.59%, representing a significant year-on-year
increase. In order to increase the business volume, Meilan Airport Hotel actively
optimised the source market of various channels, and has established long-term
cooperation with more than twenty airlines to ensure the accommodation and
catering for the airline crew. At the same time, Meilan Airport Hotel continued to
develop conference and training rooms for government and aviation institutes, as
well as the reception for international and domestic travelling transit groups.

Overview of Aviation Business

In the first half of 2023, the aviation market recovered significantly, and the
passenger throughput of Meilan Airport increased significantly compared with the
same period of 2022. The Company actively communicated with airlines to increase
wide-body transportation capacity for popular destinations to meet passenger
travelling needs. In addition, the Company paid close attention to market trends,
seized favorable opportunities such as the small batches of seasonal travelers,
large-scale local convention and exhibition activities, and new international shipping
routes, publicized the Haikou market on a number of mainstream media, and
continuously transmitted favorable market information. Meanwhile, the Company
cooperated with major airlines and OTA (Online Travel Agency) platforms to carry
out publicity and promotion activities, in order to attract traffic for the airline market
and increase market development efforts.

In the first half of 2023, Meilan Airport has established a total of 203 departure
routes, including 188 domestic routes, representing a year-on-year increase of 18
routes; 10 international and regional routes, 5 international freight routes; and has
extended its reach to 130 cities, including 114 domestic cities, 10 international and
regional cities and 6 international freight cities. A total of 46 airlines operated at
Meilan Airport, including 33 domestic airlines, 9 international and regional airlines
and 4 international freight airlines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The recovery of the international market will be combined with the application of
the release of time slots to amplify market development efforts. In the first half of
2023, Meilan Airport has operated a total of 10 international and regional passenger
routes (Haikou = Hong Kong, Haikou = Phnom Penh, Haikou = Bangkok, Haikou =
Singapore, Haikou = Macau, Taiyuan = Haikou = Sydney, Haikou = Kuala Lumpur,
Haikou = Samoa, Changsha = Haikou = London, Haikou = Melbourne). Compared
with the full year of 2022, 9 new international and regional passenger routes were
opened. Compared with the full year of 2019, the recovery rate of international and
regional passenger routes was 27.78%. The international and regional air passenger
market is gradually recovering.

On 11 July 2023, “Incheon = Haikou = Kuala Lumpur”, the fifth freedom of the
air freight regular route, was officially opened. This is the second fifth freedom of
the air freight route opened by Meilan Airport following the “Haikou = Singapore =
Jakarta” international cargo route, which will build a bridge in the air for exchanges
and communications among the three areas, fully promoting the high-quality
development of Hainan Free Trade Port.

Details of the aviation traffic throughput for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and
the comparative figures in the corresponding period of last year are set out below:
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For the six months ended 30 June
BEANA=THLAEAR

2023 2022 Change
—EB-=F —F- - g

Aircraft takeoff and landing (flights) TR B PR BROR (BB 0R) 85,367 58,631 45.60%
in which: domestic Hep: BN 83,910 58,429 43.61%
international and regional B R [ 1,457 202 621.29%

Passenger throughput (headcount in REFHEEAR
ten thousand) 1,204.80 656.13 83.62%
in which: domestic Hep o @R 1,191.02 656.10 81.53%
international and regional B R S b & 13.78 0.03 45,833.33%
Cargo and mail throughput (tons) BE AN S (W) 93,077.90 74,186.50 25.46%
in which: domestic Hep: BN 89,728.20 72,097.50 24.45%
international and regional B R S b & 3,349.70 2,089.00 60.35%




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB AT

The Group's revenue from aviation business for the six months ended 30 June 2023 HE-Z-=FXA=+HIL AR » KEEfHZ:
was RMB494,404,533, representing an increase of 132.47% as compared to the WA A ARA94,404,6337F » B —F — — F R HIE

corresponding period of 2022. Details are as follows: ’132.47% - FFIBWAT -
For the Changes over the
six months ended corresponding
30 June 2023 period of 2022
BE-ZE-=% B_F -
ANA=tTHIEREAR ) HA 2
(RMB)
(AR®7T)
Passenger service charges IR AR 7% & 228,912,963 133.43%
Ground handling service income 1 AR 1S & 169,863,940 145.98%
Fees and related charges on aircraft takeoff RO JEE B Ko AR A L B
and landing 95,627,630 109.93%
Total revenue from aviation business MZe AWM A 494,404,533 132.47%
Overview of Non-aviation Business FEM 22 R AR

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, as the production and operation indicators EHZ -"Z - =FXA=1+tHILNEA  HLEEZ
have gradually recovered, the Group achieved a revenue from its non-aviation $EIZEFE  ANEBEBREMEZEKRAARE
business of RMB571,542,433,representing an increase of 39.41% as compared  571,542,4337F * 88— & — — F R HIEK39.41% °
with the corresponding period of 2022.

For the Changes over the
six months ended corresponding
30 June 2023 period of 2022
BE-E=-= BR_E_-—

ANA=t1HIEAEA EIHA%E E)

(RMB)

(AR T
Franchise income RS SR IA 325,387,703 41.16%
Hotel income B EHA 57,670,144 43.13%
Freight and packaging income BERBERA 50,771,318 11.69%
Rental income A 34,296,684 25.15%
VIP room income BEEEHA 15,112,466 -24.46%
Other income EmugA 88,304,118 90.75%
Total revenue from non-aviation business FEM AW A 571,542,433 39.41%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Franchise Income

In the first half of 2023, the franchise income of the Group aggregated to
RMB325,387,703, representing a year-on-year increase of 41.16%, which was
mainly attributable to the significant increase in the sales of cdf Meilan Airport duty-
free shops and the increase in the rental area of offshore duty-free pick-up points
as the recovery of domestic aviation industry had continued and the passenger
throughput at Meilan Airport had increased, thereby leading to a significant increase
in franchise income of the Group as compared with that of the corresponding period
of last year.

Hotel Income

In the first half of 2023, the hotel income of the Group amounted to
RMB57,670,144, representing a year-on-year increase of 43.13%, which was
mainly due to the increase in the occupancy rate of Meilan Airport Hotel as a result
of the increase in the passenger throughput of Meilan Airport due to the continuous
recovery of domestic aviation industry.

Freight and Packaging Income

In the first half of 2023, the freight and packaging income of the Group aggregated
to RMB50,771,318, representing a year-on-year increase of 11.69%, which was
mainly due to the year-on-year increase in the cargo and mail throughput at Meilan
Airport as a result of the continuous recovery of domestic aviation industry and
integration of resources and promotion activities carried out in the freight business
at Meilan Airport.

Rental Income

In the first half of 2023, the rental income of the Group aggregated to
RMB34,296,684, representing a year-on-year increase of 25.15%, which was mainly
due to the increase in rental income as a result of the increase in external rental
area.

VIP Room Income

In the first half of 2023, the VIP room income of the Group aggregated to
RMB15,112,466, representing a year-on-year decrease of 24.46%, which was
mainly due to the year-on-year decrease of VIP room income as the VIP card
licensing business terminated in July 2022 as a result of business adjustment.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Asset Analysis

As at 30 June 2023, the total assets of the Group amounted to RMB12,069,365,572,
among which, the current assets amounted to RMB768,098,300, and the non-
current assets amounted to RMB11,301,267,272. The total assets increased by
13.44% as compared with that as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to
the newly added right-of-use assets as the Company leased the relevant assets of
Phase | and Phase Il of Meilan Airport held by Haikou Meilan International Airport
Company Limited (the “Parent Company").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Cost and Expense Analysis

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group's operating costs amounted
to RMB971,815,319, the sales expenses amounted to RMB1,779,116, and
the administrative expenses amounted to RMB41,013,515, the operating
costs, sales expenses and administrative expenses amounted to a total of
RMB1,014,607,950,which represented an increase of 82.41%as compared with
that of the corresponding period of 2022. The increase in costs and expenses was
attributable to the following reasons:

(1) depreciation expenses and amortization of intangible assets increased by
RMB238,816,137 as compared to the corresponding period in 2022, mainly
due to the depreciation of newly added right-of-use assets as the Company
leased the relevant assets of Meilan Airport Phase | and Meilan Airport Phase
Il held by the Parent Company;

(2)  the labor costs increased by RMB157,001,054 as compared with that of
corresponding period of 2022, mainly because the Company has been
responsible for the overall operation of Meilan Airport since 2023, and there
was an increase in labour demand which has led to an increase in the number
of employees, which in turn led to an increase in labour costs; and

(3)  the utilities, cleaning and environmental maintenance fee and repair fee
increased by RMB51,806,558 as compared with the same period of 2022,
mainly due to the increase in business volume of Meilan Airport as the
domestic aviation industry continued to recover, and the Company was
responsible for the overall operation of Meilan Airport, which led to the
increase in related operation cost.

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the finance expenses of the Group
amounted to RMB75,270,423,representing an increase of RMB26,877,228 as
compared with that of corresponding period of 2022, which was mainly due to the
increase in finance expenses as the result of the addition of interest expenses on
lease liabilities of RMB34,520,262 in the first half of 2023.

Gearing Ratio

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had total current assets of RMB768,098,300, total
assets of RMB12,069,365,572, total current liabilities of RMB6,453,062,416, total
liabilities of RMB7,719,271,071. As at 30 June 2023, the Group's gearing ratio (total
liabilities/total assets) was 63.96%, representing an increase of 5.37% as compared
to that as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly because the Company leased
the relevant assets of Meilan Airport Phase | and Meilan Airport Phase Il held by
the Parent Company, adding new lease liabilities and resulting in the relatively great
extent of increase in liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledge of Assets

As mentioned in the Company’s announcement dated 1 February 2018, the
Company and the Parent Company, as co-borrowers, pledged the land and
buildings owned by the Company and the Parent Company as security to secure
the syndicated loan (the “Syndicated Loan”) of RMB7.8 billion from China
Development Bank Corporation Limited (the “CDB"), Hainan Branch of Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China Limited (the “ICBC Hainan Branch"”) and Hainan
Branch of Agricultural Bank of China Limited (the “ABC Hainan Branch”), as co-
lenders, for a period of 20 years, which shall be solely used for the construction of
the airport project of the Phase Il Expansion Project.

Capital Structure

The major objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure the ability of
ongoing operations and to maintain a healthy capital ratio in order to support its
business and maximize shareholders’ interests. The Group continued to emphasize
the appropriate mix of equity and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure to
reduce capital cost.

As at 30 June 2023, the interest-bearing debts of the Group mainly included bank
loans and lease liabilities (the “"Total Borrowings"”), amounting to approximately
RMB3,847,259,992, and the cash and cash equivalents were approximately
RMB292,336,791. The gearing ratio (net liabilities/total capital) of the Group was
44.97% as at 30 June 2023 (31 December 2022: 30.40%), representing an increase
of 14.57% as compared with that of 31 December 2022, which was mainly
because the Company leased the relevant assets of Meilan Airport Phase | and
Meilan Airport Phase Il held by the Parent Company, adding new lease liabilities and
resulting in the relatively great extent of increase in liabilities.

The Group maintained a balanced portfolio of loans at fixed interest rates and
variable rates to manage interest expenses. As at 30 June 2023, the Syndicated
Loan contract was denominated in Renminbi with a fixed rate, of which the amount
is RMB1,944,000,000.

The Group aimed to keep the balance between the continuity and flexibility of funds
through utilizing its Total Borrowings. As at 30 June 2023, 100.00% of the bank
loans of the Group would/may become due within one year. As at 30 June 2023,
the bank loans of the Group were denominated in Renminbi, the cash and cash
equivalents were mainly held in Renminbi.

Cash Flow

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group's net cash inflow from operating
activities was RMB238,529,437, representing a year-on-year increase of 24.88%,
which was mainly due to the increase in business volume of Meilan Airport as
the domestic aviation industry continued to recover, and that the assets of Meilan
Airport Phase | and Meilan Airport Phase Il were leased during the first half of 2023
with the revenue related to the leased assets being attributable to the Company,
leading to the increase in the revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group's net cash outflow for
investment activities was RMB176,314,721, representing a year-on-year increase of
79.43%, which was mainly due to the payment for the construction of the Phase Il
Expansion Project.

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group's net cash inflow for financing
activities was RMB110,695,002, representing a year-on-year increase of 176.31%,
which was mainly attributable to the new working capital loans.

Significant Investments Held and Their Performances
Hainan Airlines Airport Holding (Group) Company Limited (“HNA Airport
Holdings”), the major associate of the Company, is principally engaged in the
operation and management of Sanya Phoenix Airport.

HNA Airport Holdings is a subsidiary of Hainan Airport Infrastructure Co., Ltd
(formerly known as “HNA Infrastructure Investment Group Company Limited")
("Hainan Airport”), which was included in the restructuring of Hainan Airport in
February 2021, and the net liabilities attributable to the Parent Company in the
consolidated financial statement as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB1.86 billion. For the six months ended 30 June 2023, HNA Airport Holdings
recorded a net profit attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company of
RMBO0.16 billion. As at 30 June 2023, the equity attributable to shareholders of
HNA Airport Holdings remained in deficit of RMB1.66 billion, the long-term equity
investment of the Group in HNA Airport Holdings was nil.

Save as disclosed above, for the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group did
not hold other material investments that have a significant impact on the overall
operations of the Group.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,

Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

Other than those disclosed in this interim report, for the six months ended 30 June
2023, the Company did not carry out any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE MATERIAL INVESTMENT AND
EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUND

On 11 May 2020, the Company and the Parent Company entered into the
supplemental investment and construction agreement, pursuant to which the

Company agreed to provide funds amounting to approximately RMB7.646 billion

to construct part of the Phase Il Expansion Project (the “Company Construction

Project”). The Company considers to provide the remaining funds required for the

Company Construction Project by the followings (subject to future adjustment):

(1)

(2)

The Syndicated Loan

As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 6 March 2018, pursuant
to the Loan Agreement dated 1 February 2018, the CDB, the ICBC Hainan
Branch and the ABC Hainan Branch agreed to grant the Syndicated Loan to
the Company and the Parent Company on a joint and several basis in the
principal amount of RMB7.8 billion for a period of 20 years, which shall be
solely used for the construction of the Airport Project, and pursuant to the
Loan Allocation Agreement entered into between the Company and the
Parent Company on 1 February 2018, the Company was allocated RMB3.9
billion (representing 50% of the Syndicated Loan). As of 30 June 2023, the
Company has drawn down RMB1.944 billion and the remaining of RMB1.956
billion will be utilized in the construction of the Company Construction
Project. Further details of the Syndicated Loan are set out in Note2(1) to the
financial statements;

The Local Government Special Bonds

The local government special bonds are expected to be issued by relevant
governmental authorities in Hainan Province to support the construction of
the Airport Project. It is expected that certain proportion of the proceeds from
the local government special bonds will be allocated to the Company, which
will be utilized in the construction of the Company Construction Project; and

Working Capital
The Company will use part of its working capital generated from its operation
activities to support the construction of the Company Construction Project.

Save as disclosed above and issuance of domestic shares as consideration for the

transfer of the Phase | runway assets to the Parent Company, during the six months
ended 30 June 2023 and as of the date of this interim report, there was no other
future plan approved by the Group for any material investments or purchase of
capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had a total of 3,443 employees, representing
an increase of 2,211 employees as compared to that at the end of 2022. The
increase in employees was due to the increase in labor demand as the Company
is responsible for the overall operation of Meilan Airport which led to the increase
of business volume. Employees of the Group are remunerated based on their
performances, seniority and prevailing industry practices. The Group reviews its
remuneration policy on a regular basis. Bonuses and commissions may be awarded
to the employees as incentives based on the assessment of their performance.

RETIREMENT PENSION

The Group shall participate in the retirement scheme operated by the relevant
local governmental institutions. The PRC government shall be responsible for the
pension of the retired employees. The Group has to make a contribution at a certain
percentage of the salary of the employees with permanent residence in the PRC
(according to the retirement pension policies in Hainan Province, the contribution
ratio for the six months ended 30 June 2023 was 16%). Once the Group contributes
to the retirement scheme, the employer’s contribution is fully owned by the
employees. For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the pension contribution of
the Group was approximately RMB31,186,668 (for the corresponding period of last
year, the pension contribution of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022
was approximately RMB17,635,625).

ENTRUSTED DEPOSITS AND OVERDUE TIME
DEPOSITS

As at 30 June 2023, the Group did not have any entrusted deposits or overdue time
deposits.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save for the arrangements under the Syndicated Loan and the arbitration mentioned
in the section headed “Material Litigation or Arbitration” below in this interim
report, as at 30 June 2023, the Group had no other significant contingent liability.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The businesses of the Group are principally conducted in Renminbi, except certain
revenue from the aviation business, purchase of equipment and consultation service
fees which are denominated in US dollars or HK dollars. The Group has not entered
into any forward contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term interest bearing borrowings
including long-term borrowings and long-term payables. Financial liabilities issued
at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Financial liabilities
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no important events affecting the Group that have occurred since 30
June 2023.

NO OTHER MATERIAL CHANGE

Other than those disclosed in this interim report, there has been no other material
change in relation to the information disclosed in the 2022 annual report in
accordance with Rule 32 set out in Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “"Hong Kong Stock Exchange”).

THE PROGRESS OF PROPOSED ISSUANCE OF
NEW DOMESTIC SHARES AND NEW H SHARES

References are made to the circulars of the Company dated 28 April 2017, 6 March
2018, 18 April 2019 and 7 January 2020 in relation to, among other things, the past
Parent Company subscription and the past new H shares issue and the extension
of validity period of the shareholders’ resolutions and authorisation granted to the
Board in relation to the past Parent Company subscription and the past new H
shares issue.

According to the past Parent Company subscription, the Parent Company agreed to
subscribe for the new domestic shares, which include:

189,987,125 new domestic shares as consideration for the transfer of the Phase
| runway assets by the Parent Company to the Company; and 12,500,000 new
domestic shares by cash at an aggregate subscription price of RMB100,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$111,632,061), at the subscription price of RMB8.00
(equivalent to approximately HK$8.93) per new domestic share.

Pursuant to the past new H shares issue, the Company may proceed to place not
more than 200,000,000 new H shares to qualified institutions, corporation and
individuals and other investors.

The validity period of the shareholders’ resolutions and authorisation granted to
the Board in relation to the past Parent Company subscription and the past new H
shares issue expired on 25 June 2020.
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References are made to the announcement of the Company dated 24 July 2020
and the circular of the Company dated 20 August 2020 in relation to, among other
things, the Parent Company subscription and the new H shares issue. On 24 July
2020, the Company and the Parent Company entered into the Parent Company
domestic shares subscription agreement (the “2020 Parent Company Domestic
Shares Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Parent Company
agreed to subscribe for the subscription shares, being not more than 140,741,000
new domestic shares as consideration for the transfer of the Phase | runway assets
by the Parent Company to the Company. There is no other material change on
the terms of the 2020 Parent Company Domestic Shares Subscription Agreement
as compared to those in the past Parent Company domestic shares subscription
agreements, except for the adjustments to the subscription price, number and
method for the subscription shares. Meanwhile, the Board proposed the new H
shares issue (i.e. issue of not more than 155,000,000 new H shares). In relation
to the Parent Company subscription and the new H shares issue, the Company
held the extraordinary general meeting, the H shareholders class meeting and the
domestic shareholders class meeting on 18 September 2020, where the relevant
resolutions were considered and approved.

References are made to the announcement of the Company dated 22 August 2021
and the circular dated 21 September 2021 in relation to, among other things, the
Parent Company Subscription and the new H shares issue. On 21 August 2021,
the Company and the Parent Company entered into the 2021 Supplemental Parent
Company Domestic Shares Subscription Agreement (the “2021 Supplemental
Parent Company Domestic Shares Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to
which, the Company and the Parent Company mutually agreed to make certain
amendments to the 2020 Parent Company Domestic Shares Subscription
Agreement. The Company held the extraordinary general meeting, the H
shareholders class meeting and the domestic shareholders class meeting on 8
October 2021, where the relevant resolutions were considered and approved to
extend the validity period of shareholders’ resolutions and authorization granted to
the Board in relation to the Parent Company Subscription and the new H shares
issue for a further period of twelve (12) months, commencing from 18 September
2021 and ending on 17 September 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

References are made to the announcement of the Company dated 8 August 2022
and the circular of the Company dated 30 September 2022 in relation to, among
other things, the Parent Company subscription and the new H shares issue. The
Company held the extraordinary general meeting, the H shareholders class meeting
and the domestic shareholders class meeting on 8 November 2022, where the
relevant resolutions were considered and approved to extend the validity period
of shareholders’ resolutions and authorization granted to the Board in relation to
the Parent Company subscription and the new H shares issue for a further period
of twelve(12)months, commencing from 18 September 2022 and ending on 17
September 2023.

Each of the completion of the Parent Company subscription and the new H shares
issue shall be subject to certain conditions precedent. For details, please refer to
the circulars of the Company dated 20 August 2020, 21 September 2021 and 30
September 2022. As of the date of this interim report, none of such conditions
precedent was satisfied or waived. The Company will notify the shareholders
and potential investors of the Company with the information on the progress of
the Parent Company subscription and the new H shares issue in the future (if
necessary).

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

In the first half of 2023, the Group has actively conducted scientific analysis and
teased out the operational deficiencies or potential risks identified during the course
of work, in order to systematically organise, mitigate and monitor potential risks
and to build a governance environment with risks under control and compliant
operations.

In the second half of 2023, the Group will continue to carry out the “Promotion
Work over the Risk Management and Internal Control System”, further optimise
the framework and refine the schemes, and carry out this task as the routine work
of the Group. The Group will pay attention to, keep track of and effectively resolve
problems to lay a solid foundation for a healthy, rapid and sustainable development
of the Group in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB AT

No.
53

Names of risks

BRER

Description of the key risk

BREREL

Counter measures taken
in the first half of 2023
TECCELYERYER

Effectiveness of risk-counter measures

EREHRR

28

Operation risk = Core
safety risks

The major safety risks faced by the
airport facing mainly include bird
strike risk, aircraft damage risk and
airfield construction management
risk. Failure to effectively drive birds
away may result in collisions with
aircraft, affecting the normal flight,
and even the material economic loss.
During the flight operation support
process, if damage is made to the
aircraft due to crate deformation,
equipment failure and improper
human operation, it may cause
economic loss, flight delay or even
cancellation. Failure to effectively
manage relevant personnel, vehicles
and related materials during the
construction and maintenance work
in the flight area of Meilan Airport
may increase the risks associated
with foreign objects and flight area
intrusion.

(1

2

(4)

Guarding against bird strike risk: We established
a professional team for bird strike prevention at
the airport to prevent and control bird strike risks
by, among others, strengthening the employees
training and drills, introducing new bird repellent
equipment, conducting research on bird ecological
environment, visiting other airports for exchange
of views and learning, and carrying out hird rescue
work;

Preventing vehicles from colliding with aircraft: We
improved ground security procedures for aircraft
and established standardized operation guidelines;
increased efforts in flight operation support
and vehicle running status inspection through
“online+offline” means, and imposed penalty for
violations; carried out safety education and high-
risk road operation rules training and assessment;
organised coordination meetings among various
aircraft support units to specifically solve safety
hazards;

Guarding against of foreign objects in the flight
control area: We strengthened foreign objects
cleaning and inspection, organised all units to
carry out training on foreign objects, revised and
finalized three management systems in respect of
cultural construction, risk assessment, merit point
management, safety inspection, etc., improved the
safety control mechanism, and raised the apron
operators' awareness against foreign objects; and

Guarding against construction management risk in
the airfield: We ensured smooth communication
between the construction unit and the apron tower
during the construction period, and standardized
the implementation of information notification
process, emergency handling process, personnel
training requirements, construction approval
process, emergency drills, etc. according to the
regulations on the management of construction
works without the stopping of flights in the airfield.

In the first half of 2023, Meilan Airport took various

measures to comprehensively control and strictly

monitor and prevent each core safety risk, and there

were no aircraft scratching, illegal intrusion to the

runway and unsafe construction in the flight area.

Effectiveness of risk-counter measures are set out

below:

(M

2

Q)

In the first half of 2023, the rate of bird strikes in
the duty area was 0.13 per 10,000 flights, which
was lower than the annual airport bird strike
prevention and management target set by the
CAAC: the rate of ird strikes in the duty area was
0.8 per 10,000 flights;

There was no safety incidents of foreign object
damage to aircraft due to the liability of Meilan
Airport in the first half of 2023; and

In the first half of 2023, there were no safety
incidents caused by illegal intrusion to the runway
and construction at Meilan Airport.
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Counter measures taken
No.  Names of risks Description of the key risk in the first half of 2023 Effectiveness of risk-counter measures
F¥  BREE BRERER TECCELYERYER EREHNE
2 Business risk/strategic  Airport revenue is affected by (1) Introducing passenger and cargo airline base (1) In the first half of 2023, the number of aircraft take

30

risk = risk of changes in
business environment
and market demand

changes in economic environment
and market demand. If the economic
growth slows down or an economic
crisis occurs, or the demands and
preferences of passengers change,
it may lead to a decline in the
Company's revenue and adversely
affect the airport's operating
performance.

(2

companies: In 2022, Meilan Airport introduced
Central Airlines as the first freight base company,
and also introduced Juneyao Airlines as the third
airline base company at Meilan Airport to improve
the layout of Haikou route network;

Adding new domestic destinations during the
Epidemic outbreak: Against the backdrop of the
pandemic, we actively visited and coordinated the
airlines to develop new destinations, and achieved
a year-on-year increase of 10 new domestic
destinations as compared to that in 2022;

Strengthening the utilization of idle hours: We
communicated with the regional civil aviation
administration and airlines to utilize idle hours. The
domestic planned flights in summer and autumn
flight season increased by 4.72% year-on-year; the
domestic planned flights in the winter and spring
flight season increased by 0.21% year-on-year,
creating favorable conditions for flight scheduling
and time utilization; and

Carrying out joint marketing activities in aviation
market: We carried out joint promotional activities
with airlines and OTA (Online Travel Agency)
platforms for 35 times through live streaming,
BANNER display, Weibo and other forms. We also
cooperated with Feng Xiaogang Film Commune (5
NEIEZ A, Changying Wonderland (RE/Rk
100), Mission Hills Golf Club (EE#5EX) and
other scenic spots to introduce air tickets+scenic
spot tickets/ accommodation discount packages to
attract tourists to travel from Haikou.

2

Q)

(4

off and landing and the number of passengers
carried at Meilan Airport have resumed to 102.08%
and 96.39% for the same period in 2019;

In the first half of 2023, Meilan Airport had a
total of 6,354 wide-body aircraft in operation,
representing an increase of 140.01% as compared
to the same period of 2022 and an increase of
55.93% as compared to the same period of
2019. Wide-body aircraft accounted for 7.49%,
representing a year-on-year increase of 3.01
percentage points;

Meilan Airport opened 5 new domestic
destinations and 18 new domestic routes, 9
new international and regional routes and 9 new
international and regional destinations, 2 new
international cargo routes and 2 new international
cargo destinations. We continuously improved the
domestic network layout of Meilan Airport and
gradually improved the international and regional
passenger market; and

Assisted cdf Meilan Airport duty-free shops
to achieve brand upgrading, and promoted
the exposure and entering rate of cdf Meilan
Airport duty-free shops, which stimulated the
consumption by offshore passengers. At the same
time, it explored the consumption potential of high-
end customers and increased the customer unit
price level.
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Counter measures taken
No.  Names of risks Description of the key risk in the first half of 2023 Effectiveness of risk-counter measures
FE  BRER BREREL CECCELYERUER RREHNE
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Counter measures taken
No.  Names of risks Description of the key risk in the first half of 2023 Effectiveness of risk-counter measures
B  BREE BRERER CECCEFEERENER EREHNE
3 Operation risk—Qutsourcing ~~ Some functions of airport operation (1) Carrying out specific work on outsourcing  In the first half of 2023, the verification and optimisation

32

units management risk

are outsourced, but the responsibility
of security service and operational
efficiency are still borne by the airport
itself. The quality and efficiency of
outsourcing units affect the operating
conditions of the airport itself.

business management: In 2022, we formulated
and issued the Work Plan for Optimising Business
Management and Control System of External
Suppliers ((SMBEAEBERBRBLIER
%)), and established a special working group to
explore and optimise the management and control
mode of outsourcing business;

(2)  Promoting the end-to-end process management
and control of outsourcing agreements: We
reviewed and updated the list of agreements,
continuously updated the standard agreements
according to the implementation thereof. In
addition, we reviewed the implementation of the
current systems and carried out the improvement
of the end-to-end process management and
control mechanism;

(3)  Establishing personnel management and training
mechanism: We separately formulated the
human resources evaluation system and training
management system for outsourcing units,
established the human resources work quality
evaluation system for outsourcing units, internally
assessed and certified 53 outsourcing part-time
internal trainers, and set up a tiered team of trainers.
In addition, we organised 24 outsourcing units to
carry out entry training and assessment; and

(4)  Organising management review of outsourcing
units: Hainan Certification Authority Center was
engaged to review key outsourcing units, and
conducted professional evaluation from various
aspects such as quality management system,
industry standard and compliance, and raised
a total of 57 issues for improvement. After
rectification, 54 issues have been completed at
present, and the remaining 3 issues involving
system revision and personnel allocation were
under further rectification.

of the outsourcing management model of Meilan
Airport was the main ling, and the Company continued
to deepen the system optimisation, pay attention to
actual results, create highlights, consolidate the system
foundation, and help the high-quality development of
Meilan Airport. Effects of risk-counter measures are set
out below:

(1) Sorting out and formulating a template of the
agreement to ensure that the outsourcing unit met
the requirements for safety service and operation
control of Meilan Airport, and introducing high-
quality external suppliers through front-end control;

(2)  Establishing an outsourcing agreement account
management mechanism and a problem list
feedback mechanism through the linkage
and coordination of multiple departments,
and strengthening the end-to-end process
management and control to effectively prevent
outsourcing contract risks;

(3) Establishing a personnel management and
training mechanism, building a trainer echelon,
and organising and carrying out personnel access
training and assessment of outsourcing units, with
a passing rate of 100%;

(4)  Identifying 30 issues for improvement through
service-oriented supervision. After continuous
rectification by trial units, review by various
regulatory teams and the “look back” work in
mid-2023, 29 issues have been rectified and the
rectification rate reached 96.7%; and

(5)  Strengthening the information communication
and business management between outsourcing
units and Meilan Airport through the dual
supervision of regulatory units and secondary
committees, and focusing on the improvement of
the overall operation quality of the “Grand Meilan”
community.
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Counter measures taken
No.  Names of risks Description of the key risk in the first half of 2023 Effectiveness of risk-counter measures
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PROSPECTS FOR THE SECOND HALF OF THE YEAR

In the first half of 2023, facing the complex and severe international environment,
all domestic regions and departments accelerated the construction of a new
development pattern, focusing on promoting high-quality development, coordinating
development and safety in a better manner, attaching great importance to the
work of stabilising growth, employment, and prices. The market demand gradually
recovered with the production and supply continuously increased, achieving
generally stable employment and prices, steady growth in residents’ income,
and overall economic recovery. In the second half of 2023, although the external
environment is becoming more complex and severe, and the domestic economic
development is also under a certain extent of pressure, the long-term positive
fundamentals of the domestic economy remain unchanged, and the characteristics
of strong resilience, great potential and sufficient vitality remain unchanged, and the
conditions for supporting high-quality development also remain unchanged. With
the accumulation of more positive factors to promote development, the economy in
China is expected to continue to recover.

In the second half of 2023, Hainan province will focus on the four leading
industries (i.e. tourism, modern service industry, high-tech industry and high-
efficiency agriculture with tropical characteristic), enhance the effect of investment
promotion, and promote the early landing, implementation and realisation of results
of contracted projects. It will continue to create new consumption hot-spots,
standardize the order of the tourism market, and allow tourists to enjoy greater
discounts, experience better experiences, and keep them to stay for a longer
period. It will accelerate policy transformation, amplify the effectiveness of policies,
vigorously carry out stress testing, and complete the construction of the hardware
project for lockdown operation on schedule, so as to strongly boost the confidence
and expectation of main market entities. While exploring the potential of key
industries and promoting the upgrade of service industry, it will step up its efforts in
the expansion of international market, accelerate the development of new business
models for foreign trade, and introduce high-quality landmark foreign investment
projects, so as to maintain the momentum of externally oriented economic growth.

In the second half of 2023, the recovery and development of civil aviation will enter
a critical period of incremental quality improvement. The Group will resolutely
stick to the bottom line of safety, strengthen the implementation of the main
accountability of safety, focus on improving safety assurance capabilities, further
consolidate and strengthen the safety foundation, guard against and resolve safety
risks, and maintain a safe operating environment. The Group will also make a
scientific arrangement of transportation capacity and fully utilise operation assurance
resources, striving to improve operation assurance efficiency and production
and operation indicators on the basis of ensuring safe operation. Adhering to the
principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability, improving the travel
efficiency and travel experience of passengers, and guaranteeing the smooth
operation of major air transportation, the Group will strengthen the operation and
management of corporate safety management, production organisation, personnel
training, resource guarantee and other aspects. The Group continuously tracked
the progress of flight slot capacity application, and communicated the airline’s
incremental plan according to the production situation and movements to achieve
maximum efficiency benefits from the slots.
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INTERIM DIVIDENDS

The Board expected that, in the second half of 2023, the Company has a large
capital demand, mainly due to that the Phase Il Expansion Project has been
officially put into operation in December 2021, and the out-of-pocket costs have
increased significantly; and although the Phase Il Expansion Project has been put
into operation, the relevant construction has not been fully completed and settled,
and a large amount of capital will still be required in 2023 for the payment of
the construction. In view of the actual needs of capital for the Company’s future
development, the Board does not recommend the payment of interim dividend for
the six months ended 30 June 2023.

MATERIAL LITIGATION OR ARBITRATION

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5 January 2021,
Aero Infrastructure Holding Company Limited and the Company entered into a
subscription agreement in relation to the subscription of 200,000,000 new H shares
(the “New H Shares Subscription Agreement”) on 29 September 2019. Aero
Infrastructure Holding Company Limited (the “Claimant”), as the claimant, filed an
arbitration (the "Arbitration Case”) with the Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre against the Company asserting allegations in connection with the New H
Shares Subscription Agreement.

Reference was made to the announcement of the Company dated 15 June 2023.
In June 2023, the Company received the first phase arbitration award of the above
Arbitration Case, in which the majority opinion of the arbitration tribunal determined
that the Company failed to use its best endeavors to facilitate the transaction of the
subscription agreement, and therefore the Company was found to have breached
the contract. The Arbitration Case will hold the hearing for the second phase in the
second half of 2023 to determine whether there is causation between the breach
of contract and the damages claimed by the Claimant, and the amount of damages
that the Claimant is entitled to if there is causation. Based on this, whether
the Company needs to compensate the Claimant for losses and the amount of
compensation will be subject to the results of the second phase of the Arbitration
Case.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material litigation or arbitration for
the six months ended 30 June 2023.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Mr. Qiu Guoliang ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect from 13 April
2023.

Mr. Wang Zhen, an executive Director, has reached the statutory retirement age
and ceased to be the commander in chief of the commander department of Meilan
Airport Phase Il Expansion since August 2023, and has been re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from 11 August 2023.

Mr. Wu Jian, a non-executive Director, has been the vice president of the Parent
Company since July 2023 and ceased to be the assistant to the president of the
Parent Company.

Save as disclosed above, during the six months ended 30 June 2023 and as at the
date of this interim report, there was no change in the Directors, supervisors and
chief executives of the Company, and the Company is also not aware of any other
change in information relating to the Directors and chief executives of the Company
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company held the 2012 annual general meeting on 27 May 2013, where
the “Resolution in Relation to the Remuneration Packages for the Directors and
Supervisors of the Company in 2013"” was considered and approved. It provided
that the Directors and supervisors nominated by connected party shareholders
would not enjoy allowance for their positions from the year of 2013, but may
receive appropriate wages depending on their specific duties in the Company.
Other Directors and supervisors will receive their remuneration according to the
remuneration packages approved by the general meeting.

REMUNERATION OF COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Xing Zhoujin, being the company secretary of the Company nominated by the
connected party shareholder, does not enjoy any allowance for his position, but will
receive appropriate wages depending on his specific duties in the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2023, the total number of issued shares of the Company was

473,213,000, of which:

OTHER INFORMATION

BRA &S

HE &R

RZZBZ=FXA=1H ARFEBTZERAR

473,213,0000% » E :

Number of shares

Percentage to total
issued shares

BE 1HE BATH R I
Domestic shares A& 246,300,000 52%
H shares HA% 226,913,000 48%
Total P 473,213,000 100%

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

IN SHARES

As at 30 June 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, supervisors and chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the Directors,
supervisors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of

FTERRHOROER

MRIZZ=FRA=1TH RARRESF EFLTE
TBABMA  UWTALT(ARRES  EFLTET
BA BERON AR BB A S AR R A ) B R RCER R
RRBIRBEBENENEZH LAERI(RER
HE RS F336IFABTFNELMAMNERIOAE -

Hong Kong).
Domestic Shares ANER
Number Percentage to Percentage to
of ordinary domestic total issued
Name of shareholders Capacity shares shares issued share capital
HERTT EE#T
RRER 51 EEREE RWERBEAL BREBDL
Haikou Meilan International Airport Company Limited* (Note 1) Beneficial owner 237,500,000(L) 96.43% 50.19%
BOEFERESEREEL R (1) BRBEAA
Hainan Airport Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.* (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporations 237,500,000(L) 96.43% 50.19%
BARSEEREERAF M) REBIAREE
Hainan Development Holdings Co., Ltd.* (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporations 237,500,000(L) 96.43% 50.19%

Bt ERERERAR (M)

REHREER

TR CCFPHRESAEIFEREERNHARAA
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H Shares H iz
Number Percentage to
of ordinary Percentage to total issued
Name of shareholders Type of interests shares H shares issued share capital
LEERT EERT
RRERE ERER EER¥E HREZ K BRATAL
UBS Group AG (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporations 26,868,372 (L) 11.84% 5.68%
UBS Group AG(Fff552) Bt NGl £
The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporations 14,165,996 (L) 6.24% 2.99%
The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation(¥{5£3) B NG 2 611,000 (P) 0.27% 0.13%
HSBC Holdings plc (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporations 9,956,000 (L) 4.38% 2.10%
HSBC Holdings plc(¥tz4) SIEHI DAl 9,956,000 (S) 4.38% 2.10%
Custodian (other than an exempt 3,445,000 (L) 1.62% 0.73%
custodian interest)
REAERERE ANERRIN
Notes: Kt -
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Haikou Meilan International Airport Company Limited is established in the PRC and is
the controlling shareholder of the Company. According to the disclosure of interest filed
on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Hainan Development Holdings Co.,
Ltd.* (A #EEZERARAF) held 100% interest in Hainan Airport Group Co., Ltd*
(BrRE#I5 £ E AR A F]), Hainan Airport Group Co., Ltd held 56.00% interest in Hainan
Airport Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.* (/G35 & %184 B R A 7)), and Hainan Airport
Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. held 46.81% interest in the Parent Company. Therefore,
both Hainan Development Holdings Co., Ltd. and Hainan Airport Industrial Investment
Co., Ltd. were deemed to be interested in 237,500,000 domestic shares of the Company
in long position held by the Parent Company.

According to the disclosure of interest filed on the website of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, UBS Group AG held 100% interest in (i) UBS AG; (i) UBS Asset
Management (Singapore) Ltd; (iii) UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A.; (iv)
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG; (v) UBS Switzerland AG; (vii) UBS Asset
Management (Americas) Inc.; (viii) UBS Asset Management (Hong Kong) Ltd; (ix) UBS
Asset Management Switzerland AG; (x) UBS Asset Management (UK) Limited; (xi) UBS
Europe SE; and (xii) Credit Suisse Funds AG. Accordingly, UBS Group AG was deemed
to be interested in 3,403,786, 541,300, 21,383,115, 40,000, 22,099, 23,000, 1,305,913,
39,000, 23,159, 5,000 and 82,000 H shares of the Company held by the above
companies respectively in long position.

EOEHERKSERETARMERBEERNKY - AE
NRAZIERIRE o IRIBNE BTS2 a1
B OSHAREERARARSAEERSEEARA
Al100% % - SRS EEERARB A TREEE
¥R EBRARG6.00%ER - MEBEKZEXIRER
RARFEENNARL6.81 % - AL - BEEERE
BBERAGREGEKSEEZRERRARMIWEANT
A EHE AR A F)237,500,000% R E RS T 2 R R
B o

BIRE B R FTAULYH 2 = FE - UBS Group
AG# A (i) UBS AG : (i) UBS Asset Management
(Singapore) Ltd ; (iii) UBS Fund Management

(Luxembourg) S.A.; (iv) UBS Fund Management
(Switzerland) AG : (v) UBS Switzerland AG :
(vii) UBS Asset Management (Americas) Inc. :
(viii) UBS Asset Management (Hong Kong) Ltd :
(ix) UBS Asset Management Switzerland AG
(x) UBS Asset Management (UK) Limited : (xi) UBS
Europe SE : M (xii) Credit Suisse Funds AGH)100%
Wz o Et © UBS Group AGHE AR Ll A 75 5l
FT#% 894N 2 813,403,786/1% + 541,3000% * 21,383,115
A% - 40,0000% - 22,0994% * 23,000/% * 1,305,913% -
39,000% + 23,159f% * 5,000/% % 82,0008 HA% &f & A%
DGR -
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3. According to the disclosure of interest filed on the website of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation held 100% interest in The Bank of
New York Mellon. In addition, The Bank of New York Mellon held 100% interest in BNY
International Financing Corporation and BNY International Financing Corporation held
100% interest in BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited. Accordingly, The Bank
of New York Mellon Corporation was deemed to be interested in the 7,358,616 H shares
and 6,807,380 H shares of the Company in long position held by The Bank of New York
Mellon and BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited, respectively.

4. According to the disclosure of interest filed on the website of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, HSBC Holdings plc held 100% interest in HSBC Asia Holdings Limited and
HSBC Bank plc, and HSBC Asia Holdings Limited held 100% interest in The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. Accordingly, HSBC Holdings plc was deemed
to be interested in the 4,000 H shares of the Company in short position held by The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and 13,401,000 H shares of the
Company in long position and 9,952,000 H shares of the Company in short position held
by HSBC Bank plc.

5. (L), (S) and (P) represent long position, short position and lending pool respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, so far as known to the Directors,
supervisors and chief executive of the Company, there was no other person (other
than the Directors, supervisors or chief executive of the Company) who had any
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES

As at 30 June 2023, no Directors, supervisors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or required to be notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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THE RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had entered into any arrangement to enable the Directors or supervisors
to acquire any benefit by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or supervisors
or their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 has been granted any
rights to subscribe for shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate or have exercised any of such rights.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the six months ended 30 June 2023, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has, together with the management of the Company,
reviewed the interim results and the unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial information (including the accounting standards and practices adopted by
the Group) of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023.

DETAILS OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 3.10(1),
RULE 3.10(2) AND RULE 3.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

As of 30 June 2023, there were four independent non-executive Directors in the
Board. As of 30 June 2023, the Audit Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, including one personnel with appropriate professional
qualifications of accounting and the membership of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ and supervisors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors and supervisors,
the Company confirmed that, all Directors and supervisors have complied with the
Model Code and the code of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ and
supervisors' securities transactions for the six months ended 30 June 2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has been in compliance with all the rules prescribed by the China
Securities Regulatory Commission and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, as well as
requirements of other regulatory bodies. The Company has applied the principles as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and established a series of corporate governance systems
in accordance with relevant requirements to continuously improve the corporate
governance structure.

Pursuant to the code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. According to the articles of association of the Company (the
"Articles of Association”), the Directors and supervisors shall hold term of office
of three years from the date of election, and may stand for re-election upon the
expiry of their term of office.

The term of office of Mr. Liao Hongyu, an independent supervisor, has expired on 2
June 2022. As the selection of a successor to the independent supervisor is still in
progress, the Company failed to complete the re-election/election before the expiry
of the term of office of the aforementioned supervisor. Before the completion of
the re-election/election, such supervisor will continue to perform the corresponding
duties.

In accordance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities of
the chairman and chief executive officer of a listed issuer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang Hong serving as both
the chairman and the president deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

Notwithstanding the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, given that
the Company has clearly set out in writing the respective duties of the chairman and
the president (i.e. the duties of the general manager as stipulated in the Articles of
Association) and that Mr. Wang Hong, as the president, is familiar with the business
of the Company and has superior knowledge and experience of the business of
the Company, the Board is therefore of the view that Mr. Wang Hong serving as
both chairman and president has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
with the Company and allows for more efficient overall business development
strategic planning for the Company. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure
enables the Company to make and implement decisions in a timely and effective
manner. Notwithstanding this, the Board will review the structure from time to time
and consider appropriate actions to be taken where appropriate.

Save for the deviation disclosed above, for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
the Company had complied with the other code provisions of the CG Code and met
with all reasonable governance and disclosure requirements. The Company will
continue to improve its corporate governance and enhance its transparency to the
shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS BExg

As at the date of this interim report, the members of the Board include: RAFRHRE A EFHUTALEK :

Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors ~ #7TEF BUIRITEE

Wang Hong (Chairman and President) Fung Ching, Simon T REFRFLH) B

Ren Kai Deng Tianlin £ sl BRI

Xing Zhoujin George F Meng TBRE® HEE
Ye Zheng % K

Non-executive Directors FEHTTEE

Wu Jian R f2

Li Zhiguo =EH

Wang Zhen + B

By order of the Board EEEEWm

Hainan Meilan International Airport Company Limited* BREEHEEREREROERAR

Wang Hong F %=

Chairman and President EERFHH

Haikou, the People’s Republic of China = N\A=Z+HhH

25 August 2023 FE O

This interim report is published in English and Chinese. KA IR L P X RS B AR o

In the event of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Chinese version shall prevail. TEET P TE X R B FERE S A IR Z I - AP X AR B2 -

*  For identification purposes only
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
afkrrEEARE

AS AT 30 JUNE 2023 2023%6/30H

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIF8H) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

30 June 31 December 30 June 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 20224 20234 2022
64300 12A318 6A30A 12A318
Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
aft ELi | |
Note (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited)
ASSETS EE st (REHE) (E3) (REET) (&5
Current assets REBEE
Cash at bank and on hand B¥E: 4(1) A1) 292,336,791 119,427,073 234,785,506 84,746,580
Financial assets held for trading RotEMEE 23,418,974 28,276,733 9,068,505 10,675,667
Accounts receivable FEUERTR 402) 72) 388,420,120 267,265,560 556,918,273 405,792,870
Prepayments BRHE 6,058,204 9,827,641 5,631,457 9,233,402
Other receivables H it UK 43) 74(3) 45,482,935 45,165,250 84,774,448 70,881,339
Inventories IEa 938,023 785,451 130,842 130,972
Other current assets HitRE & 11,443,253 9,257,877 269,597 269,597
Total current assets RBEEAT 768,098,300 480,005,585 891,578,628 581,730,427
Non-current assets FRBEE
Long-term equity investments RERERE 4(4), 14(1)
79(4) ~ +17(1) 8,349,494 8,349,494 23,549,494 23,549,494
Other non-current financial assets HinpnoemiE 49,057,863 49,057,863 6,607,914 6,607,914
Investment properties REUREME 4(5) 7(5) 1,562,220,538 1,588,118,868 1,562,220,538 1,588,118,868
Fixed assets EEEE 4(6) 7(6) 7,169,988,959  7,287,915800  7,158,169,887  7,275,029,953
Right-of-use assets TREEE 4(7) 19(7) 1,369,875,810 84,244,294 1,369,875,810 79,900,965
Intangible assets EWAE 4(8) 19(8) 1,041,612,655  1,050,102,401 1,041,457,755  1,049,927,410
Long-term prepaid expenses ROGHER 2,869,981 3,338,293 2,769,613 3,203,125
Deferred tax assets EEFMEHEE 43,483,271 41,834,806 - -
Other non-current assets HiFERyEaE 53,808,701 46,583,900 53,808,701 46,583,900
Total non-current assets FRBEEET 11,301,267,272  10,159,545,719  11,218,459,712  10,072,921,629
TOTAL ASSETS EEAG 12,069,365,572  10,639,551,304  12,110,038,340  10,654,652,056
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS

ek RRBEREBR

AS AT 30 JUNE 2023 202346 530H

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 5805} - % BEE I BARKIT)

30 June 31 December 30 June 31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022

2023% 20224 20234 2022

64300 12A318 6A30A 12A318

Consolidated Consolidated Company Company

aff ELi | |

Note (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY RERESR HsF (REHE) (E3) (REET) (&5

Current liabilities RBEE

Short-term borrowings REER 4(9) 79(9) 300,000,000 100,000,000 300,000,000 100,000,000

Accounts payable ERER 4(10) £9(10) 336,014,541 361,617,182 279,805,338 308,303,231

Advances from customers BFIR 19,709,704 29,159,367 3,432,539 4,526,351

Contract liabilities cRaE 27,553,874 12,433,168 22,087,665 12,026,174

Employee benefits payable BT H B 98,412,914 72,653,332 91,224,875 60,656,586

Taxes payable EXTE 4(11) (1) 220,894,715 242,555,786 219,149,247 240,560,053

Other payables HiERH 4(12) 19(12) 2,165,652,001  2,381,475457  2,149,096,820  2,365,133,700

Other current liabilities HitmEAaRE 4,278,182 3,306,607 3,950,209 3,282,187

Non-current liabilities due within one year —FREBNERBEE 4134013 3,280,546,485  2,796,812,359  3,247,026,102  2,760,641,666

Total current liabilities RBEEAET 6,453,062,416  6,000,013258  6,315,772,795  5,855,129,948
Non-current liabilities FREasE

Lease liabilities HEaE 4(14) 19(14) 1,057,075,528 - 1,057,075528 -

Long-term payables REBENR 4(15) 19(15) 22,790,493 24,682,712 - -

Deferred income BT E 42,308,889 43,725,556 42,308,889 43,725,556

Deferred tax liabilities EREFEHAR 73,026,995 84,598,932 71,021,757 82,229,368

Other non-current liabilities HiFEngaE 4(16) 19(16) 71,006,750 80,010,865 - 965,615

Total non-current liabilities FRBEEET 1,266,208,655 233,018,065  1,170,406,174 126,920,539

Total liabilities afEast 7,719,271,071  6,233,031,323  7,486,178,969  5,982,050,487
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
B RARIAEERER

AS AT 30 JUNE 2023 202346 /30H
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIF8H) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

30 June 31 December 30 June 31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022

2023% 20224 20234 2022

64300 12A318 6A30A 12A318

Consolidated Consolidated Company Company

aff ELi | |

Note (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY RERESR HsF (REHE) (E3) (REET) (&5

Shareholders’ equity RRER

Share capital A 473,213,000 473,213,000 473,213,000 473,213,000

Capital surplus [ ZYNE 4(17) 19(17) 864,890,722 864,890,722 699,484,654 699,484,654

Other comprehensive loss Hikr ez 13,624,269 13,624,269 - -

Surplus reserve YN 246,394,231 246,394,231 246,394,231 246,394,231

Retained earnings ROBHHE 4(18) 19(18) 2,760,700,269  2,811,320,624  3,204,767,486  3,253,509,684
Total equity attributable to FEREQARR

shareholders of the Company E@at 4,358,822,491 4,409,442,846 4,623,859,371 4,672,601,569

Minority interests LEREER (8,727,990) (2,922,865) - -

Total equity BRRERAT 4,350,094,501  4,406,519,981  4,623,859,371  4,672,601,569

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY SERERE 12,069,365,572  10,639,551,304  12,110,038,340  10,654,652,056

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:
PEREEA -

Wang Hong

ER

Principal in charge of accounting:

FTEETTIENEREA :

Ren Kai
53}

TR PR E e EEEHERE

Head of accounting department:

BITHIBEEA
Tian Qingquan
HER

B BRRA A

&P AT SRR PR R B TS R R AR 5
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY INCOME STATEMENTS

ERaONEIEUNEFS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 £ %2023%6/130H 1- 61 /1 &/
(BR1F5IERAS) - BB B A RHT)

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Six months ended 30 June
HZ6A30A 1L6fHA
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 20225 20235 2022
Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
&bt A A7 AT
Note (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Item B Vit (REEH) (RiE&s) (RiEHE3t) (REHE:)
1. Revenue - EERA 4(19), 14(2)
79(19)  1£9(2) 1,065,946,966 622,633,880 981,425,155 563,731,129
Less:  Cost of sales W EERA 4(19), 14(2)
79(19)  +19(2) (971,815,319) (518,636,648) (891,218,417) (431,043,697)
Taxes and surcharges & &AM (33,631,129) (35,828,067) (33,498,620) (35,633,156)
Selling and distribution expenses HEER 4(19), 14(2)
79(19)  +19(2) (1,779,116) (2,134,534) - -
General and administrative expenses EEER 4(19), 14(2)
79(19)  +19(2) (41,013,515) (35,460,471) (31,365,121) (24,474,619)
Financial expenses BBER 4(20) 79(20) (75,270,423) (48,393,195) (75,440,620) (48,260,964)
Including: Interest expenses He: FISER (76,902,681) (48,861,896) (76,902,681) (48,429,619)
Interest income HBWA 1,030,271 689,662 746,594 303,996
Add:  Other income s Halkas 6,314,880 15,377,319 5,760,222 13,432,761
Investment income BN 4(21) B9(21) 613,458 19,383,504 613,458 12,201,702
Including: Investment loss on associates He: gl g
BIREBE - (4,499,456) - (4,499,456)
Losses on changes in fair value AR BEZEBER (4,857,759) (5,390,335) (1,607,162) (1,607,617)
Credit impairment losses ERRERX (15,378,404) (1,604,411) (15,694,337) (237,568)
Gains or losses on disposal of assets BEREWRS/
(%) 726,610 (240,408) 598,975 (240,408)
2. Operating (Loss)/profit - BE(ER) /B (70,143,751) 9,706,634 (60,426,467) 37,867,563
Add:  Non-operating income s EEIMRA 499,186 290,159 478,338 268,728
Less:  Non-operating expenses W BEINEE (2,631) (17,362,503) (1,680) (17,242,378)
3. Total loss = B4R (69,647,196) (7,365,710) (59,949,809) 20,893,913
Less:  Income tax credits/(expenses) W FERER/(BR) 4(22) I(22) 13,221,716 (18,102,286) 11,207,611 (22,366,157)
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY INCOME STATEMENTS
& B kR Ex

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

Six months ended 30 June

HZ6A308L6MEA
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 2022 2023%F 20224
Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
At At AF AR
Note (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Item R Kz (REH3) (K& (REHE) (REE)
4. Net loss M EEE (56,425,480) (25,467,996) (48,742,198) (1,472,244)
Classified by continuity of operations REAHERS
Net loss from continuing operations RELEIER (56,425,480) (25,467,996) (48,742,198) (1,472,244)
Net profit from discontinued operations B2 ERE - - - -
Classified by ownership of the equity RIEEEBES R
Net loss attributable to shareholders BERENARRNF
of the Company B (50,620,355) (11,788,124) (48,742,198) 1,472,244)
Minority interests LYREEE (5,805,125) (13,679,872) - -
5. Other comprehensive income, I HtREREN
net of tax BERE - - - _
6. Total comprehensive loss A GEBRAE (56,425,480) (25,467,996) (48,742,198) (1,472,244)
Attributable to shareholders of the Company GRREDARRNGS
BEEE (50,620,355) (11,788,124) (48,742,198) (1,472,244)
Attributable to minority interests GREAVERENGEE
pi=Ft ol (5,805,125) (13,679,872) - -
7. Loss per share t BRER
Basic loss per share (RMB Yuan) EAGRER 4(23) 79(23) (0.11) (0.02) Not applicable Not applicable
(AR%7) TEA TEm
Diluted loss per share (RMB Yuan) wERERER 4(23) 9(23) (0.11) (0.02) Not applicable Not applicable
(AR%7) TEA @R
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. BB IS SRR M T R B S R B ARRK B 5 ©
Legal representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
PHEEEA - TEEFIIEMBEA - SEHEBEARA -
Wang Hong Ren Kai Tian Qingquan
E N 1£8l HER
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY CASHFLOW STATEMENTS
R ARIRETRER

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

Six months ended 30 June
HZ6H30R1L6f8A
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 2022F 2235 202%
Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Aft aft e AR
Note (Unaudited) {Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
if3 (REEHE) (RiEEH) (REE) (RisEH)
1. Cash flows from operating activities - BEEBHELNRLRE
Cash received from sales of goods or rendering of services HEWD - RESHUINRS 957,301,749 695,534,085 846,997,328 632,085,247
Refund of taxes and surcharges BEnRERE 2,354,118 - - -
Cash received relating to other operating activities WEEhEEE RS RN 46,687,663 120,290,712 23,559,305 147,483,199
Sub-total of cash inflows from operating activities BEFHREFANG 1,006,343,530 815,824,797 870,556,633 779,568,446
Cash paid for goods and services BEWD  BEXSBXANRE (282,283,531) (194,728,490) (243,749,783) (150,930,602)
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees TRBBIHRARIZAHES (305,433,582) (185,556,482) (239,484,409) (130,961,543)
Payments of taxes and surcharges SROSERE (45,087,957) (57,297,515) (40,697,566) (51,555,701)
Cash paid relating to other operating activities IAEpEERERERNRS (135,009,023) (187,230,202) (131,430,389) (221,775,822)
Sub-total of cash outflows from operating activities LETHRLRM G (767,814,093) (624,812,689) (655,362,147) (555,223,668)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHELNRSRETE 4296 (256 238,529,437 191,012,108 215,194,486 204,344,778
2. Cash flows used in investing activities Z REETHERNELRE
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets REATAEKENRSTE 3,0M 189,319 - 189,193
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing activities REFHRERANG 3,07 189,319 - 189,193
Cash paid to acquire and construct BRETEENANRE
fixed assets and other long-term assets EEXNNRE (176,317,792) (98,450,410) (175,850,562) (98,081,103)
Sub-total of cash outflows from investing activities RETHREARML it (176,317,792) (98,450,410) (175,850,562) (98,081,103)
Net cash flows from investing activities REEBELNESRERE (176,314,721) (98,261,091) (175,850,562) (97,891,910)
3. Cash flows used in financing activities = EBEIEHEANELRE
Cash received relating to other financing activities WEHEHEEEEHERNRS 220,000,000 20,000,000 220,000,000 20,000,000
Sub-total of cash inflows from EETHRLFANG
financing activities 220,000,000 20,000,000 220,000,000 20,000,000
Cash repayments of borrowings BEEBZANES (20,000,000) - (20,000,000) -
Cash payments for distribution of HERF - FEREAT
dividends and interest expenses BXftRE (42,883,992) (94,991,646) (42,883,992) (94,991,646)
Cash paid relating to other financing activities IAEHEEEEHERNEE (46,421,006) (70,076,476) (46,421,006) (70,076,476)
Sub-total of cash outflows from financing activities BETBRORML G (109,304,998) (165,068,122) (109,304,998) (165,068,122)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) EETHEL/ (RN
financing activities ReREFE 110,695,002 (145,068,122) 110,695,002 (145,068,122)
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
B EARIRERER

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

Six months ended 30 June
HZE6A30A L6fEA
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 2022F 2235 202%
Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Aft aft P A7
Note (Unaudited) {Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
if3 (REEHE) (RiEEH) (REE) (RisEH)
4. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on M EX2HHRSK
cash and cash equivalents REZENNYE - - - -
5. Net increase/(decrease) in cash and I RERBLZENT
cash equivalents /(A8 4(25)(b) 9(25)(b) 172,909,718 (52,317,106) 150,038,926 (18,615,254)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at m:BHeRES
the beginning of the period ZEMHE 119,427,073 177,462,360 84,746,580 100,712,913
6. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period ~NBRASRESSENHE 292,336,791 125,145,255 234,785,506 82,097,659
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. BT B IR T I T A IR MK E D o
Legal representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
PHREEA FEEHIEWERA - EEHEEEEA -
Wang Hong Ren Kai Tian Qingquan
B £81 HER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

L T

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%202346 5 30H 1617 /7 &

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

(BERIEHI) - 2REELBARKT)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

BRRADANRRER
Other Total
Share Capital Surplus  comprehensive Retained Minority  shareholders’
Note capital surplus reserve loss earnings interests equity
ltem EE it B o BHAR  Et&AUE FABAE  JBEREZE REEZAH
Unaudited: REE
Balance at 1 January 2022 202251R 10 B E 473,213,000 819,661,947 246,394,231 (19,524,487)  3,013,842,700 32,481,482  4,566,068,873
Movements for the six months EZ202256A30A 68 A
ended 30 June 2022 HEER28
Total comprehensive loss GABERE
Net loss FER - - - - (11788,124)  (13679.872)  (25,467,996)
Other comprehensive income Hhoiralia - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss GABREEAH - - - - (11,788,124) (13,679,872) (25,467,996)
Balance at 30 June 2022 202256 30R B REAE 473,213,000 819,661,947 246,394,231 (19,624,487)  3,002,054,576 18,801,610  4,540,600,877
Balance at 1 January 2023 202351510 B E 473,213,000 864,890,722 246,394,231 13,624,269  2,811,320,624 (2,922,865)  4,406,519,981
Movements for the six months HZ202356A30A L6HAH
ended 30 June 2023 BEH2BE
Total comprehensive loss GeBELE
Netloss FER - - - - (50,620,355) (5,805,125)  (56,425,480)
Other comprehensive income Hibrala - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss GEBBERAT - - - - (50,620,355) (5,805,125)  (56,425,480)
Balance at 30 June 2023 202356 A30R HAHE 473,213,000 864,890,722 246,394,231 13,624,269  2,760,700,269 (8,727,990)  4,350,094,501

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:
PEEEA -
Wang Hong

E
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Principal in charge of accounting:

FTEEIIEMEAN :

Ren Kai

)
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Head of accounting department:
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Tian Qingquan
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY

/ ~N II\I:III\

NG

2Hx

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)
Other Total
Share Capital Surplus  comprehensive Retained shareholders’
Note capital surplus reserve income earnings equity
ltem BH lifia A& BADR BHAR Hfpira K RAOBE RRERAT
Unaudited: PN
Balance at 1 January 2022 202251 A1 REISE 473,213,000 699,484,654 246,394,231 3,342,712,248 4,761,804,133
Movements for the six months HZ2202256A300 1L6fH A
ended 30 June 2022 ER2BE
Total comprehensive loss SEBBRESE
Net loss 5%%%“ - - - (1,472,244) 1,472,244
QOther comprehensive income Efnird s - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss SEBBRLHEAH - - - (1,472,244) (1,472,244)
Balance at 30 June 2022 20226 B30 A i RAE 473,213,000 699,484,654 246,394,231 3,341,240,004 4,760,331,889
Balance at 1 January 2023 20235 1A 1R HIHE 473,213,000 699,484,654 246,394,231 3,253,509,684 4,672,601,569
Movements for the six months B 22023564300 68 A M
ended 30 June 2023 EH2BE
Total comprehensive loss SAEEBRESR
Net loss BB - - - (48,742,198) (48,742,198)
Other comprehensive income Efir A s - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss GABREEA - - - (48,742,198) (48,742,198)
Balance at 30 June 2023 202356730 HRBE 473,213,000 699,484,654 246,394,231 3,204,767,486 4,623,859,371

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:
PEEEA -
Wang Hong

TR

Principal in charge of accounting:

ERATIMARA -

Ren

fE5L

Kai

ZEZ=FhERE e FEE

pa

BB TS R I R R B T R AR RE 2

Head of accounting department:

BATHEREA

Tian Qingquan
HER

WERE=BRNDARRA A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% e 7% P

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 & %20234%6 H30H 16185 Zif#
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

1

52

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hainan Meilan International Airport Company Limited (hereinafter referred to
as the "Company”) was established as a joint stock company with limited
liability in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") on 28 December 2000.
The registered address and the address of the headquarters of the Company
is in Haikou City, Hainan Province, the PRC. The Company’s shares were
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18
November 2002. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group")
are mainly engaged in the operation of the Meilan Airport (“Meilan Airport”)
and certain ancillary commercial businesses at Haikou City, Hainan Province,
the PRC. The parent company of the Company is Haikou Meilan International
Airport Co., Ltd. (“"Haikou Meilan”), an enterprise established in the PRC
with limited liability.

These financial statements are authorised for issue by the Board on 25
August 2023.

These interim financial statements are unaudited.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounting
Standard for Business Enterprises — Basic Standard, the specific accounting
standards and other relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance on
15 February 2006 and in subsequent periods (hereafter collectively referred
to as the “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” or “CASs").
The financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with
the Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises 32 “Interim Financial
Reporting”, issued by the Ministry of Finance. The accounting policies applied
in the preparation of the financial statements were consistent with those
applied in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022, The financial statements shall be read in conjunction with
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

(1)

AREREFR

R EREREERNBRABGIHAHER
BESEERNERAR] - U TERBIARAT])
B—KA2000F 12 A28 B AR EE A R AFE (A
TEBIPEADKIMOBRBERAR - AR
it R B0t AR BERE A S ™ o AR A
B Z=R2002F 11 B18EEBR BB AR BT EIR
HEBEMRS AREMTFRARATATREIAE
BN EIZEHACETRGHABOMER
B (AT TR MBS ) ARE THEmERE
% o RRBIMBREAEPEKAEDEHH
BHISARET AT CATHBEOER]) -

R HREAAR AR EEEHN2023F8A25H #E
R o

A R R -
FTESTHBEMEFAE

BB R AR AR

B IRR R IR B B 50200652 A 15 H K A 12
B (REEER - EAEA) - &1
ARt LRI REERE (A TAE I hEETE
AIDGRE - AP BHERET ERBEMO(RE
GRPAERIE325% - P MR IRE) 0 2T
WMIKEE > PIRAA SR B AL 20224
EBMRRAO G BE — B AU B RE
[ B SR [ 20226 Z I S 3k — G BIRE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%£2023%6A30H 1-61& A £f&
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The Group recorded the net loss of approximately RMB56 million for six
months ended 30 June 2023. As at 30 June 2023, the Group recorded current
liabilities of approximately RMB6.45 billion, which exceeded its current
assets by approximately RMB5.68 billion. The Group’'s current liabilities
mainly comprise short-term borrowings of RMBO0.3 billion and the syndicated
loan of RMB1.94 billion, amounts due to related parties of RMB0.79 billion,
lease liabilities due within one year of RMBO0.55 billion and the construction
fee payable of Meilan Airport Phase Il Expansion Project (the “Phase Il
Expansion Project”) of RMB1.22 billion.

As disclosed in Note 9, on 23 December 2020, the Company received notice
of arbitration requiring the Company to pay a compensation for the damage
with a maximum amount of HK$6.962 billion in respect of the H shares
subscription agreement entered into in prior year (the “Arbitration Case”).
In June 2023, the Company received the arbitral award of the first phase in
which the majority opinion of the arbitral tribunal found that the Company had
not used its best endeavors to facilitate the transaction of the subscription
agreement and therefore found that there was a breach of contract. As at
the date of these financial statements, the Arbitration Case is still pending
in the second phase to determine whether there is causation between the
breach of contract and the damages claimed by the applicant, and if there is
causation, what is the amount of damages that the applicant is entitled to.

R =EhERE e B E

(1)

FESHBREMNS T EETw

MEBRRNERER@®
RNEBEF202356 A30F 1F61E A BRI EE
BHR/AR0.56187T - 1202356 H30H - &
EENRBEBEBAARBE4LET  BBRBE
EHNARES68ET - AEENABHAEBEEER
BRAERNBEEERD B ABAREIETIA
R¥19.48 T - BB RBAARIET IE
T —FERIHNEEREEAARKESSEITU
REMEB#S —HIEEER ((ZHEZEER))
TIERABARE12.2(ETT °

KSR AL - AR AR 20205512 H 23 H UK
hEGRA - ERARRIBLAR FE R —IEH
R GHEFERS T HB69.628E THIEL
(TMhEERMHE] : 12023568 - AAAUENPE
EUME—ERIER  MHEZEERREELR
ARBRABNEXRBEBHE LIRS BRREF
EENTR - BEAVBHRRMHEA > ZHHE
HHBRE _RROTIR - UHTEENTTRER
BALRNEEER CHREFERREE - A
FanfrEEREENAR T EEESREAZER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 15 R P ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 5 30H 1-616 A #iE

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2

54

(BERIEHI) - 2REELBARKT)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

As disclosed in Note 8(5)(b), the Company and Haikou Meilan jointly
constructed the Phase Il Expansion Project. Haikou Meilan as the borrower
and the Company as the co-borrower have obtained a syndicated loan (the
“Syndicated Loan") with a total facility of RMB7.8 billion and maturity of
20 years which is specifically for financing the construction of the Phase |l
Expansion Project. The Company and Haikou Meilan jointly undertake the
repayment obligation for each loan drawn down under the Syndicated Loan
Agreement and are jointly and severally liable for the repayment of the Loan
(the “Joint Repayment Commitment”). As of 30 June 2023, the draw-
down of the Syndicated Loan totalled approximately RMB5.18 billion, and
the repayment of principal amounted to RMBO0.11 billion, of which Haikou
Meilan had outstanding principal of RMB3.13 billion and the Company had
outstanding principal of RMB1.94 billion. In 2019, Haikou Meilan has triggered
the event of default of the Syndicated Loan Agreement. Furthermore, as HNA
Group Co., Ltd ("HNA Group") and its certain related parties including Haikou
Meilan were not able to settle their debts in due course and were insolvent as
a whole, Hainan High People Court (the “Hainan High Court"”) ruled on the
acceptance of the substantial consolidated restructuring of HNA Group and its
related companies inclusive of Haikou Meilan totalling 321 companies on 13
March 2021 (the “"HNA Group Substantial Consolidated Restructuring”)
("Haikou Meilan’s Defaults”). Haikou Meilan's Defaults resulted in the
loan syndicate has the right to request, at any time, the Company as the
co-borrower to undertake the Joint Repayment Commitment to repay the
Syndicated Loan drawn down by Haikou Meilan amounting to RMB3.13 billion
and the right to request, at any time, the Company to early repay the balance
of the Syndicated Loan drawn down by the Company amounting to RMB1.94
billion and suspend offering the remaining loan facility of RMB1.96 billion to
the Company. On 24 April 2022, Hainan High Court ruled on the completion
of the HNA Group Substantial Consolidated Restructuring and the Syndicated
Loan Agreement to continue.

A short-term bank loan of the Company amounting to approximately RMB0.38
billion was overdue in November 2020 (the “Overdue Payment”), which
constituted an event of default of the Syndicated Loan. As of January 2022,
the Company has fully repaid the principal and interest of the loan.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%£2023%6A30H 1-61& A £f&
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The abovementioned Arbitration Case, Haikou Meilan’s Defaults and Overdue
Payment triggered events of default of the Syndicated Loan. As at the date
of these financial statements, the Company and Haikou Meilan have not
obtained the written waiver from the loan syndicate, nor received notice
from the loan syndicate requiring the Company to immediately repay the
Syndicated Loan or undertake the Joint Repayment Commitment.

The above events or circumstances indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt over the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern.

In view of the above, the Directors have carefully considered the Group's
future working capital, operating position and available sources of financing so
as to assess whether the Group has sufficient working capital and sources of
financing to ensure that it can settle its debts when they fall due and continue
as going concern for 12 months from 30 June 2023. The Group is planning a
series of measures to mitigate pressure on working capital, including but not
limited to:

1) In respect of the Arbitration Case, the Company will actively continue
defending against the allegations through the Company’s arbitration
lawyer in the second stage of the arbitration proceedings with the
best endeavor to avoid compensation for the damages claimed by the
applicant;

2) The Company and Haikou Meilan have obtained the agreement
from the loan syndicate to continue to perform the Syndicated Loan
Agreement. The Company and Haikou Meilan are negotiating with the
loan syndicate about the wavier in respect of aforementioned events
of default. Management believes that the loan syndicate will agree to
waive the above defaults and will not require the Company to early
repay the principal and interest of the Syndicate Loan of the Company
of RMB1.94 billion or settle the principal and interest of the Syndicate
Loan of Haikou Meilan of RMB3.13 billion;

3) In December 2022, Hainan Provincial Development and Reform
Commission has approved a facility of RMBO0.7 billion sourced from
the 2023 local government specific bond for the Phase |l Expansion
Project. As of August 2023, it has received a total of RMB90 million in
loans. Haikou Meilan and the Company will follow up with the People’s
Government of Hainan Province to draw down the facility to settle the
construction fees of the Phase Il Expansion Project. Management is
of the view that the Company can continue to obtain facilities from
local government to finance the repayment of construction fees of the
Phase Il Expansion Project;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 & %20234%6 H30H 16185 Zif#
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

2

56

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued)

4) The Company has negotiated with Haikou Meilan and obtained its
consent that the Company can repay the amounts due to Haikou
Meilan when the Company has sufficient working capital, including the
Company's amounts due to Haikou Meilan of about RMB1.27 billion
and the lease liabilities payable within one year of about RMB0.55

billion as of 30 June 2023;

5) In June 2023, the Group obtained the approval of the Civil Aviation
Administration of China that the standard peak hour capacity for flights
at Meilan Airport was increased from 30 to 40 flights/hour. The Group
continued to timely take a number of measures to match transportation
capacity with market demand, build an aviation regional gateway hub
facing the Pacific and Indian Oceans, reasonably control the airport
operation cost, accelerate the upgrades of luxury shops in Terminal 2
and develop an exclusive online shopping platform for Meilan Airport
duty-free shops to increase the working capital inflow of the Company;

and

6) The Company continued to communicate with major banks and
financial institutions to actively obtain new bank facilities. As of August
2023, the Company has obtained an intentional financing facility of
RMB200 million from a domestic commercial bank to supplement the

Company's working capital.

The Board of the Company has reviewed the Group's cash flow forecast
prepared by the management of the Company and the Directors are of the
opinion that, after careful consideration of the resources available to the
Group, including the internally generated funds and the available banking
and other financing resources and taking into account the above plans and
measures, and in the absence of unforeseeable circumstances, the Group
will have sufficient working capital for its present requirements for at least 12

months from the date of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 & %2023%6 530 H 1618 5 4

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (B4 585}

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Notwithstanding, significant uncertainty exists as to whether the management
of the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as described above.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would depend
upon the following:

1) Whether the Company will not be required to pay the damage as
claimed by the applicant of the Arbitration Case;

2) Whether the Company can successfully obtain the loan syndicate’s
official waiver in respect of the aforementioned events of default and
then the Company is not required by the loan syndicate to early repay
the balance of the Syndicated Loan drawn down by the Company of
RMB1.94 billion or settle the balance of the Syndicated Loan drawn
down by Haikou Meilan of RMB3.13 billion;

3) Whether the Company can continue to utilise, at any time, the facility
of local government specific bonds to settle the construction payment
of the Phase Il Expansion Project;

4) Whether the Group's airport operation will generate the expected
stable net operating cash inflow; and

5) Whether the Group can sign the loan agreements with the bank
offering the intentional financing facility and draw down the loan when
necessary.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to adjust the carrying amounts of the Group's assets
to their recoverable amounts, to make a provision for financial liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not yet been reflected in these financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group continually evaluates the critical accounting estimates and
key judgements applied based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The source of significant judgements and uncertain
estimates on the accounting policies made by the Group in preparing the
interim financial statements is the same as that applied to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 15 R P ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 & %20234%6 H30H 16185 Zif#
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

3 TAXATION

(1

(a)

58

The main categories and rates of taxes applicable to the Group are set out

N

BiiE

AEBBEANEEREREBEIRNAT

below:
Category Tax base Tax rate
HE BRI kS
Enterprise income tax (a) Taxable income 15%
PS5 H(a) JEMTL PTG 5 15%

Value-added tax (“VAT") (b)

using the taxable sale amount multiplied by the

Taxable value-added amount (Tax payable is calculated

3%, 5%, 6%,
9% or 13%

applicable tax rate less deductible VAT input of the

current period)
EEF ()

Taxable amount of VAT
BANEIL AT TR

City maintenance and construction tax

P R AR T

Taxable of VAT
BN IL AT R

Educational surcharge

B B

Taxable of VAT
BN IL AT R

Local educational surcharge

75 28 BN

Pursuant to the Notice on the Policies of Income Tax Preferences for
Enterprises in Hainan Free Trade Port (Cai Shui [2020] No. 31) jointly issued
by the Department of Finance of Hainan Province and the Hainan Province
Tax Service of State Taxation Administration and the relevant regulations, the
Group is subject to enterprise income tax at the preferential rate of 15% from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2024.

Pursuant to the provisions including the Circular on Enterprise Income Tax
Policy concerning Deductions for Equipment and Appliances (Cai Shui [2018]
No. 54) and the Announcement on Extending the Implementation Period of
Certain Preferential Tax Policies (Cai Shui [2021] No. 6) issued by the State
Taxation Administration, as well as the relevant regulations, during the period
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2023, the Group's newly purchased
equipment with the original cost less than RMB5 million can be included
in cost and expenses for the period and deducted against taxable profit in
the next month after the asset is put into use, instead of being depreciated
annually.

JE A T8 3 (B BB (I A 101 BB AR FE AR 52 3 55 RR SR DAL AR B R HI B
B A AR E R R SRR T E

(a)

3% 5% 6%

9%3%13%

5% or 7%
5% 7%

3%
3%

2%
2%

BESEAVEE BRHEERTHERE
BB (B R G EHE S EREATIEHER
B 4 (BARE120201315%) RAABERE - A
£ @ 20205181 HE2024F 12 A31 B ERE
A ORIZ15% T BRI DTSR o

REBRRHIBEBEM (R EZE - S5SAHR
BRI E TS BB 8 ) (B 78[2018]545%)
Ko (B RRE = 55 25 Bl e (B B I SR 3 77 B R 89 22
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 530 H 1-618 7 #ifE

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (B4 585}

TAXATION (Continued)

Pursuant to the Announcement on Relevant Policies for Deepening the Value-
Added Tax Reform (Cai Shui Haiguan [2019] No. 39) and related regulations
jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance, the State Taxation Administration
and the General Administration of Customs, since 1 April 2019, the VAT
rates were 13%, 9% and 6% for the Group’s tangible movable property
rental income and labour income, the real estate rental income, and service
income and franchise income respectively. The Group's revenue from leasing
the real estate that was obtained on or before 30 April 2016 was subject to
simplified method of taxation, with an applicable VAT rate of 5%. The Group's
revenue from warehouse service and stevedoring service was also subject to
simplified method of taxation, with an applicable VAT rate of 3%.

Pursuant to the “Announcement on VAT Policies for Promoting the Bailout
and Development of Vulnerable Industries in the Service Sector” (No.87 of
2019) and the relevant regulations issued by Ministry of Finance and the
State Taxation Administration, the Company and its subsidiaries, as service
companies, qualifies for additional 10% deduction of input VAT from output
VAT from 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the “Announcement on Clarifying VAT Exemption or Reduction
and other Policies for Small-scale VAT Taxpayers” (No.1 of 2023) and the
relevant regulations issued by Ministry of Finance and the State Taxation
Administration, the Company and its subsidiaries, as producer service
companies, qualifies for additional 5% deduction of input VAT from output
VAT from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, and the Company and
its subsidiaries, as living service companies, qualifies for additional 10%
deduction of input VAT from output VAT from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% < P

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br#5IEB5) » & EEE L BARKET)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S OtET SRk 18 B MY EE

STATEMENTS
(1) Cash at bank and on hand (1) EES

30 June 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

6H30H 12H31H

Cash on hand EFRE 31,403 42,858

Cash at bank RITIF 292,305,388 119,384,215
292,336,791 119,427,073

(2) Accounts receivable (2) FEUWERRX

30 June 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

6H30H 12H31H

Accounts receivable by nature FEUBR FUZ I E &

- From aeronautical services - 2RE R ZEMERA 177,592,745 99,113,811

- From non-aeronautical services - REAERIEMZEHERA 322,585,387 280,646,316
500,178,132 379,760,127
Less: Provision for bad debts L ERREE (111,758,012) (112,494,567)
388,420,120 267,265,560

Credit terms granted to customers by the Group are with a general term
ranging from 1 to 3 months.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw

STATEMENTS (Continued)

(2) Accounts receivable (Continued)

(@)  The ageing analysis of accounts receivable based on the dates of recognition,

is set out as follows:

(2) FEWBRFR @

(a) EUMERFIZEARRAHIHKREOTT

30 June 31 December

2023 2022

2023F 20224

6H30H 12H31H

Within 90 days 90K AN 316,538,059 210,796,481
91 to 180 days 91 KZE 180K 47,696,552 32,858,608
181 to 365 days 181K ZE365K 57,782,465 39,427,881
Over 365 days 365K 78,161,056 96,677,157
500,178,132 379,760,127

(3) Other receivables (3) HibpEwEk

30 June 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

6H30H 12H318

Receivables of restructuring debt FEU S EEERE K 220,000 520,000

Luggage compensation paid on behalf of and due ~ FEUAIZE A AR BT TEESE R
from airlines 646,000 1,365,523
Other current accounts M ERR 45,228,873 44,188,357
46,094,873 46,073,880
Less: Provision for bad debts W AR (611,938) (908,630)
45,482,935 45,165,250
CECCERHRL. sRENEEEERAERAT O]



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% < P

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(4) Long-term equity investments (4) REKRERE
Associates — Unlisted companies BeErE-FEHAF

Movements for

the current period
FE RS E

Share of net loss
under equity method

BRERLARNTER
31 December 2022 (Note 4(21)) 30 June 2023
2022%12A31H (B (21)) 2023%6H30H
HNA Airport Holdings (Group) BESER(RE)
Company Limited ARAF
("HNA Airport Holdings") (a) (MBS ER ) () - - -
Hainan Konggang Intelligence City BREZEEEBHMRE
Investment Operation Company BEBREMLNT
Limited ("Hainan Konggang") ([BrZR)) 8,349,494 - 8,349,494
8,349,494 - 8,349,494

(a)  The place of incorporation and business of HNA Airport Holdings and its  (a) JBM#ESEREETF AR (EMRESERER])

subsidiaries (the “HNA Airport Holdings Group”) are in the PRC, and there MR EEL LM ERBIRA - BAKE
is no business transaction relationship between the Group and HNA Airport E|EBENAR - EBHECETHESEBESR
Holdings Group. Please refer to Note 6(2) for related information of interests RMEERQ2) -

in associates.
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(5)

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

SO EHRRIEEME @

Investment properties (5) BEMEHE
Buildings Land use rights Total
EEREY T ERRE &%

Cost RE
31 December 2022 and 30 June 2023 20224124318 K

2023F6A30H 1,773,110,236 38,747,603 1,811,857,839
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE
31 December 2022 2022%12831H (219,722,616) (4,016,355) (223,738,971)
Increase in the current period ANHERSE AN (25,594,652) (303,678) (25,898,330)
30 June 2023 2023F6A30H (245,317,268) (4,320,033) (249,637,301)
Carrying amount IREEE
30 June 2023 2023F6H30H 1,527,792,968 34,427,570 1,562,220,538
31 December 2022 20229 12A31H 1,553,387,620 34,731,248 1,588,118,868

As at 30 June 2023, the investment properties of the Group were mainly (a)
the mall and parking lot of the Terminal Complex Project, the property title
certificates of which are still being handled. Management believes that the
building and land without title certificates will not have a significant impact to

the operating activities of the Group.

As at 30 June 2023, the Company’s investment properties with carrying (b)
amount of RMB481,807,513 (original cost of RMB500,580,976) were
pledged as the Group's borrowings (31 December 2022: carrying amount of
RMB487,724,460 (original cost of RMB500,580,976)) (Note 8(5)(b)).

ZEZ=FRHRSE

M2023F6A30H - "EEMIREEEETE
AU AREERHNESNEER ETHE
EHWENEP - AEEEEERAZS ARG
EENEEN T T EHAEBNEETHEE
BEANTE -

M2023%F6A30H  AAAIREEEAARY
481,807,5137T (JRE A R#500,580,9767T) #3%
BEEHE022F128318  REEEAAR
#487,724,4607t (JR{E A R#500,580,9767T))
ERAREBERFIEE/\(B)(b)ERY -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥l B o

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%202346 5 30H 1617 /7 &

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

SO EHRRIEEME @

(6) Fixed assets (6) BEEE
Office
Machinery and Motor equipment
Buildings equipment vehicles and others Total
EEREEY WERE EHTIE BLAREREM &%
Cost RE
31 December 2022 2022%F12A31H 7,432,856,569 740,569,596 196,903,316 246,774,029 8,617,103,510
Increase in the current period AREE AN
Purchase BE 1,500,104 285,387 3,934,336 13,469,236 19,189,063
Decrease in the current period AERD
Disposal and other decrease REREMES - (1,367,838) (1,963,908) (2,077,764) (5,409,510)
30 June 2023 2023F6H30H 7,434,356,673 739,487,145 198,873,744 258,165,501 8,630,883,063
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
31 December 2022 2022F12A31H (926,689,252) (137,345,538) (59,339,488) (205,813,432)  (1,329,187,710)
Increase in the current period ARERE I
Provision (a) attefa) (92,706,065) (23,407,356} (7,545,853) (12,919,728) (136,579,002)
Decrease in the current period KERD
Disposal and other decrease REREMED - 1,175,216 1,689,265 2,008,127 4,872,608
30 June 2023 2023%6H30H (1,019,395,317) (159,577,678) (65,196,076) (216,725,033)  (1,460,894,104)
Carrying amount EEERE
30 June 2023 2023%6H30H 6,414,961,356 579,909,467 133,677,668 41,440,468 7,169,988,959
31 December 2022 2022%12A31H 6,506,167,317 603,224,058 137,563,828 40,960,597 7,287,915,800
(@) In the current period, the amounts of depreciation expenses charged to cost  (a) AHFTAZERALERBHEMOITESAIAAR

of sales and general and administrative expenses were RMB135,771,465 and
RMB807,537 (for the six months ended 30 June 2022: RMB 135,645,376 and
RMB2,625,415) respectively.

#135,771,46570 & A R#807,537 T (B £2022
F6A30R1E61EA : AR¥135,645,376 TRk A
R#2,625,4157T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%£2023%6A30H 1-61& A £f&
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fixed assets (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount of international terminal building
and its ancillary projects was RMB150,039,155 (31 December 2022:
RMB152,521,647). The property title certificates in respect of the international
terminal building are jointly held by the Company and Haikou Meilan.

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount of the west gallery expansion
project, hotel and aviation museum operated by the Group in the
Terminal Complex Project was RMB1,057,682,032 (31 December 2022:
RMB1,075,493,623). The Company is in the process of applying for the
property title certificates. Management believes that it will not have a
significant impact to the Group's operating activities.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group was applying for property title certificates for
all buildings included in the Phase Il Expansion Project.

As at 30 June 2023, the buildings with carrying amount of RMB4,838,767,400
(original cost of RMB5,549,689,867) have been pledged as collateral
for the Group's borrowings (31 December 2022: carrying amount of
RMB4,981,742,347 (original cost of RMB5,549,689,867)) (Note 8(5)(b)).

R =EhERE e B E

(6)
(b)

(c)

SO EHRRIEEME @

BEIEEE @

202364308 - BEBEMIGERAETRENE
EREEEAARE150,039,1557T(2022F 12 A
31H : AR®152,521,64770) * AU EHNEEE
EEARGOZEHE -

2023F6A30H @ MIGEFEIEMBER LR B
EREATRAERMERENEEREEBRAA
FR#1,057,682,03270(20224E 12 A31H : AR
1,075,493,62370) + EEEEEE MTMHEF -
FEBEEEBRARATEHAEEREZEERNEXR
TRIFZE o

72023F6A308 - —HIEZEE A BEANREE
M EEEERERIES o

R2023F6A30H @ ARAREEELARE
4,838,767,4007T (JR{E A R #5,549,689,8677T)
HNEEZEEW(2022F12A318 - FEBEAA
R #4,981,742,347 7T (JRE AR #5,549,689,867
TIVE B S EE R (F a2\ (5) (b)) B K R ) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥l B o

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%202346 5 30H 1617 /7 &

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

SO EHRRIEEME @

STATEMENTS (Continued)
(7) Right-of-use assets (7) ERAEEE
Office
Machinery and Motor equipment
Buildings equipment vehicles and others Total
EEREEY WERE EHTIE BLAREREM &%

Cost RE
31 December 2022 2022%F12A31H 87,595,872 26,350,363 103,621,477 53,475,232 271,042,944
Increase in the current period AEEN

New lease contracts (a) MEHEEARE) 1,459,353,457 115,333,118 - - 1574,686,575
Decrease in the current period KERD

Early termination of the lease contract ~ RATRILHAEAR (87,595,872) (26,350,363) - - (113,946,235)
30 June 2023 2023F6H30H 1,459,353,457 115,333,118 103,621,477 53,475,232 1,731,783,284
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
31 December 2022 2022F12A31H (70,885,891) (20,335,980) (69,021,371) (26,555,408) (186,798,650)
Increase in the current period ARHE N

Provision BErs (240,136,172) (18,978,030) (5,219,629 (1,996,864) (266,330,695)
Decrease in the current period AERD

Early termination of the lease contract ~ 1RATRILTAEAR 70,885,391 20,335,980 - - 91,221,871
30 June 2023 2023%6H30H (240,136,172) (18,978,030) (74,241,000) (28,552,272) (361,907,474)
Carrying amount EEERE
30 June 2023 2023%6H30H 1,219,217,285 96,355,088 29,380,477 24,922,960 1,369,875,810
31 December 2022 2022%12A31H 16,709,981 6,014,383 34,600,106 26,919,824 84,244,294

(@)  On 4 January 2023, the Company was approved to enter into a lease  (a)
agreement with Haikou Meilan in respect of the lease of the airport runways
and other related assets of Meilan Airport Phase | and Phase Il held by Haikou
Meilan for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2023. The
aggregate annual rental fee payable by the Company to Haikou Meilan under
the lease agreement is approximately RMB557 million which is to be paid on
monthly basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(8) Intangible assets

(8) EEEE

Land use rights Office software Total
T fEFARE WABY &%
Cost RE
31 December 2022 and 2022F12A318 &
30 June 2023 2023%6H30H 1,135,967,680 401,832 1,136,369,512
Accumulated amortisation RETEEE
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H (86,040,268) (226,843) (86,267,111)
Amortisation charged in the current
period (a) AR ERHE 3 (a) (8,469,655 (20,091) (8,489,746)
30 June 2023 2023%6H30H (94,509,923) (246,934) (94,756,857)
Carrying amount RREDF
30 June 2023 2023%F6H30H 1,041,457,757 154,898 1,041,612,655
31 December 2022 20224912 A31H 1,049,927,412 174,989 1,050,102,401

(a)  In the current period, the amounts of amortisation of intangible assets (a) ZAHFALERAMEREANELEENE
charged to cost of sales, and general and administrative expenses were HEeEN B ABARYS 469,655 LA R AR
RMB8,469,655 and RMB20,091 respectively (for the six months ended 30 20,0917C(H E2022F6 A30H E6AA : AREE
June 2022: RMB8,469,655 and RMB20,091). 8,469,655 T A M A R#20,0917T) ©

(b) International terminal building of Meilan Airport and its ancillary projects were (b))  ERHES BB MuGE M AR TEEE 27142013

put into use in 2013 (Note 4(6)(b)). As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount
of the land use rights of the relevant projects amounted to approximately
RMB37,806,369 (original cost of RMB45,078,000) (31 December 2022:
carrying amount of approximately RMB38,142,772 (original cost of
RMB45,078,000)). The land use right certificates are currently held by Haikou
Meilan, which however does not affect the use of land by the Group.

The terminal and related ancillary facilities of Phase Il Expansion Project were
put into use in December 2021. As of 30 June 2023, the carrying amounts
of land use rights related to Phase Il Expansion Project was approximately
RMB897,481,347 (original cost of RMB919,371,200) (31 December 2022:
carrying amount of approximately RMB904,048,347 (original cost of
RMB919,371,200)). The land use right certificate was held by Haikou Meilan.
The management is of the view that the land without title certificates will not
have a significant impact to the operating activities of the Group.

“EZC=FPHREIEEHBEREBROBRAF

FRNER (MM (6)(b) - 7K2023%F6H30
BzIBREEMTEREREEAENAA
R 37,806,369 ([R{E /A ARM45,078,000
JL)(2022% 128310  EEEENAARE
38,142,772t (JR {8 & A K %45,078,0007T)) © +
HWEFARENEEOERIEE  BTEE245%E
FEAZLH -

EHBS —HEEEEOMERERNE IR
EHB2M2021F12 A8 AE A - K2023F6 A
30B%IREAEN LIEREREEBENAA
R 897,481,347 (RE A AR®919,371,200
JL)(2022%12A31H  EEEENAARE
904,048,347t (RERAKRM919,371,200
L) LM FERAEEREOERES  ETEE
REBFERZ LM -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% < P

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL M &E3#EBH{RELE KT @
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(8) Intangible assets (Continued) (8) BMEEEMW

() As at 30 June 2023, the land use rights with carrying amount of (c) R2023%F6A30H ' AAREEHEEAARE
RMB944,855,124 (original cost of RMB989,433,461) have been pledged as 944,855,124 7T (JRfE AR #989,433,4617T) &)+
collateral for the Group's borrowings (31 December 2022: carrying amount of HEA#E2022F 128310  REEEAARYE
RMB951,966,719 (original cost of RMB989,433,461)) (Note 8(5)(b)). 951,966,7197C (JR 18 A K #989,433,4617T)) {F

RAEEE R L/ (B)(0) EVEIRY) -

(9) Short-term borrowings (9) HEHER
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
6H30H 12A31H
Unsecured borrowings ERER 300,000,000 100,000,000

(a)  As at 30 June 2023, the weighted average interest of unsecured borrowings  (a) 202346308 %@ ME KN FHHN XK A

is 3.38%(31 December 2022: 3.03%) per annum and the borrowings of 3.38%(2022%12A31H : 3.03%) * A& AR
RMB80,000,000, RMB145,000,000 and RMB75,000,000 are due in December #80,000,0007T + AR® 145,000,000 X AR
2023, January 2024 and April 2024, respectively. 75,000,000 T B9 & 51 #5 7 BlI 7 20234F 12 A

202441 A %2024 4 5 5|8 -

(10) Accounts payable (10) BT ERRX
The ageing of accounts payable based on their recording dates is analysed as FERBEFZEARB NIRRT ¢
follows:

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6H30H 12H331H
Within 90 days 90K AR 97,440,814 108,738,388
91 to 180 days 91 KE180K 26,770,087 24,203,659
181 to 365 days 181K 2365k 23,941,365 36,520,441
Over 365 days 365K 187,862,275 192,154,694
336,014,541 361,617,182
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STATEMENTS (Continued)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

SO EHRRIEEME @

(11) Taxes payable (11) BEXHE

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Enterprise income tax payable FERX ST 147,463,338 147,464,652
VAT payable FERIGER 55,134,441 59,121,925
Property tax payable BREEM 16,137,971 14,667,040
Individual income tax payable FEAMEIAFTISHL 131,856 5,594,950
Others H b 2,027,109 15,707,219
220,894,715 242,555,786

(12) Other payables (12) H At B
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Construction fee payable and warranty (a) ERNREIRRRIRERSD @) 1,577,210,402 1,731,865,818
Amounts due to HNA Group FE 8 M SR B R IE 257,147,000 257,147,000
Guarantee deposits R RFES 129,521,271 128,260,603
Amounts due to related parties (b) JE A BBt 75 3 (b) 69,733,738 133,269,874
Accrued airlines development subsidies TEIR M AR F B A AL X 10,787,639 10,787,639
Dividends payable FE SRR A 5,492,512 5,992,012
Interests payable on borrowings FERF B 2,409,083 2,411,156
Others Eth 113,350,356 111,741,355

2,165,652,001

2,381,475,457
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 15 R P ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

(12) Other payables (Continued)

(a)

(b)

As at 30 June 2023, construction fee payable and warranty mainly included: (1)
payables of RMB295,821,923 (31 December 2022: RMB318,600,488) for the
Terminal Complex Project; (2) payables of RMB1,216,148,286 (31 December
2022: RMB1,325,708,853) representing construction fee having been paid or
will be paid by Haikou Meilan on behalf of the Group to constructors (Note

8(5)(b)).

As at 30 June 2023, amounts due to related parties mainly included:
(1) current accounts payable of RMB50,858,000 (31 December 2022:

RMB50,858,000), which were interest free and unsecured,;

December 2022: RMB82,411,874).

(13) Non-current liabilities due within one year

/70

(2) other
temperately received amounts of RMB18,875,738 due to Haikou Meilan (31

SO EHRRIEEME @

(12) Eftb B R

(a)

(b)

M2023F6A308 @ EN&REIRERE
(MR EEERIEE E’JIF,‘%&E}\EM
295,821,9237C(2022F12A31H : AR¥
318,600,4887T) © (2)7AM 7\ (5)(b)FTit - A&
EEMEOEMRBOFIAZBREBEOXER
MEERLNNIERABARK1,216,148,286
JC(20229F12A31H « AR#¥1,325,708,853
TT) °

20236 A308 © NEEENEE T RES
o (MERARFKARS0,858,0007T(2022
128318 : AR%50,858,0007T) @ &% &
e EmIKE QEMFOEBEMERZIA
R #18,875,7387C(20224F12 A31H : AR
82,411,8747T) °

(13) —FAZHNFERBERE

30 June 31 December

2023 2022

2023F 2022%F

6H30H 12A31H

Long-term payables due within one year (Note 4(15)) — 4= A2 A s & B fE (< 30 (B 3570 (15)) 790,362,021 788,469,802

Lease liabilities due within one year (Note 4(14)) —FRIENEEAEPTEEMN(14) 546,184,464 64,342,557
Syndicated Loan for the Phase Il Expansion Project —HiE2BE HIBREER

(Note 8(5)(b)) (P 7E/\(B) (b)) 1,944,000,000 1,944,000,000

3,280,546,485 2,796,812,359
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(14) Lease liabilities (14) HEEE

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,603,259,992 64,342,557

Less: Lease liabilities due within one year B —FEREHNAEaRE
(Note 4(13)) (B sEmm(13)) (546,184,464) (64,342,557)

1,057,075,528 -

(a)  Lease liabilities are the balance of the Group’s minimum lease payments after  (a) fEABANEBRFEMR SN RENGAERE

deducting unrecognised finance charge. BEAENRE -
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Payables to Haikou Meilan (Note 4(7)) FEfE O3 (EER (7)) 1,603,259,992 64,342,557

(b)  As at 30 June 2023, future cash outflows to which the Group was potentially (b)) 202366 H30H » AEBARMAHEEE - B

exposed that were not included in the lease liabilities comprise the following: BERRREERSRENEHE AN HEEER
the future minimum lease payments of short-term leases and low-value asset ETHEREENESHHENEEEEEHEAR
leases contract adopting the practical expedient according to the new lease KRR IR ESZ NS A AREA13,7957T(2022
standard were RMB413,795 (31 December 2022: RMB664,452) respectively, F12831H + AR¥G664,4527T) » HAE—FR
and both of which should be paid within one year. T e

—E-CEhgRs.sHEERREEERsaRAT /]



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥l B o

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

(15) Long-term payables

(a)

(b)

72

(15) REEARK

SO EHRRIEEME @

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6H30H 12A3318
Payables to related parties (a) &SRB 5 FAA(a) 774,133,098 774,133,098
Deposit payable (b) FERT RS (b) 39,019,416 39,019,416
813,152,514 813,152,514

Less: Amounts from related parties due within B —F N EI BB AR 7T 5B
one year (Note 4(13)) (B3£I (13)) (774,133,098) (774,133,098)

Less: Deposit due within one year (Note 4(13)) B —FREENEMARS

(FHEEPE(13)) (16,228,923) (14,336,704)
(790,362,021) (788,469,802)
22,790,493 24,682,712

As at 30 June 2023, amounts due to related parties (Note 8(4)(e)) are interest-  (a)
free and unsecured. Certain amounts, which have no specific term agreed

and are classified as long-term payables due within one year.

The deposit payable represents the deposit temporarily received for entering (b)
into the management agreement between the Group and the third party
company for lease of the parking lot of the Group. The lease term is 10 years
starting from 1 December 2018. According to the agreement, the Group
should return the deposits in instalments during the lease period.

o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (B#5ITHIS) » & EEEL BARKT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(16) Other non-current liabilities (16) HftIERBEE
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Advances of parking lot rent AW IFEISEES 71,006,750 79,045,250
Advances of franchise fee AWK EE - 965,615
71,006,750 80,010,865
(17) Capital surplus (17) EERRQE
30 June 2023 and
31 December 2022
2023 6H30H
}2022%12831A
Share premium & A8 (B 598,983,655
Other capital surplus HEEARRTE
Share of changes in equity other than comprehensive AR E IR E ARG AR A IS A FE 5
income and profit distribution of investees under the B LA 91 B L i 42 22
equity method 165,406,068
Others Efb 100,500,999

864,890,722
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% < P

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(18) Retained earnings (18) K7 He Rl
Six months ended 30 June
EHZ6H30R1L6EA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Retained earnings at the beginning of the period BRI AR D EEFDE 2,811,320,624 3,013,842,700
Add: Net loss attributable to shareholders of mn: XEEHEBEBREARRRAEEER
the Company for the current period (50,620,355) (11,788,124)
Retained earnings at the end of the period HRADEFE 2,760,700,269 3,002,054,576
(19) Revenue, cost of sales, selling and distribution (19) BEWMANEERE - HEEAK
expenses, and general and administrative expenses EEEH
Six months ended 30 June
HZ6H30H1L6MER
2023 2022
Revenue EELON 2023%F 20224
Aeronautical business: Mz R
Passenger service income RE RS & 228,912,963 98,063,591
Ground handling service income HE RS & 169,863,940 69,055,628
Fees and related charges on aircraft TR B B N A U B
take-off and landing 95,627,630 45,552,220
494,404,533 212,671,439
Non-aeronautical business: e R -
Franchise income ST N 325,387,703 230,507,465
Hotel income BERA 57,670,144 40,291,984
Freight and packaging income HERBERA 50,771,318 45,458,663
Rental income Al A 34,296,684 27,404,324
VIP room income EEEHA 15,112,466 20,005,729
Other income EbugA 88,304,118 46,294,276
571,542,433 409,962,441
1,065,946,966 622,633,880
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STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2

(All amounts in RMB

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

(19) Revenue, cost of sales, selling and distribution

expenses, and general and administrative expenses

(Continued)

Cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and general and administrative

expenses mainly include the following items:

Yuan unless otherwise stated) (FRHFFIEEAS) » & FEE BARKIT)

W St EHRREE M

(19) BEWAFEERK - HEEAR
EEBERm

EEAA  HEBANMEEEMRIEHIATIAR
A

Six months ended 30 June

HZ6H30H1L6MEA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Employee salaries and benefit expenses BITERENER 282,914,214 126,269,211
Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets FREEEREER 266,330,695 25,877,463
Depreciation expenses of fixed assets BEEEENEEA 136,579,002 138,270,791
Outsourcing and sub-contracted labour costs BBINBREBEIKEER 55,920,654 55,564,603
Utilities KEE 48,390,313 27,904,615
Cleaning and environment maintenance BRRIRIGHEE 41,083,219 28,458,031
Repairs and maintenance B A 39,993,616 21,297,944
Depreciation of investment properties REGEHENTEER 25,898,330 25,843,636
Security guard service ZIRART B 22,859,590 20,318,998
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERHEER 8,489,746 8,489,746
Packaging materials HRAE PR AR 3,365,444 2,018,188
Handling fees of CAAC Settlement Centre RMBEFRLFESE 2,682,387 1,358,449
Others Eib 80,100,740 74,559,978
1,014,607,950 556,231,653

The Group directly recognised the lease payments of short-term leases and

low-value leases in profit or loss, and the amount for the six months ended
30 June 2023 was RMB1,165,293 (for the six months ended 30 June 2022:

RMB679,566).

AEERKEHHAENMEEERENHS I HERE
FAEHE - B E20235F6A30B 1618 A%
A ARE1,165,293 7L (B £2022F6 A30H 1E
6fE A : AR®679,5667T) °

—E-CEhHBs eI HEREREERMERAT /D



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT SRR BT a

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

(20) Financial expenses

(20) B E A

SO EHRRIEEME @

Six months ended 30 June

EHZ6H30R1L6EA

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Interest costs of borrowings ERA BT 42,382,419 43,329,950

Add: Interest costs on lease liabilities and m:HEEEREXERFELZH

entrusted loans 34,520,262 5,631,946
Interest expenses FEER 76,902,681 48,861,896
Less: Interest income B FEMA (1,030,271) (689,662)
Net exchange gains P& 5 F e (809,884) -
Others Hit 207,897 220,961
75,270,423 48,393,195

(21) Investment income

(21) REW =

Six months ended 30 June

#HZE6A300 68 A
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Income from debt restructuring of the HNA Group BMEEESEAHEEN
Substantial Consolidated Restructuring B EERE - 23,224,670
Investment loss from long-term equity investment A ZENREIE EHERAFN
in unlisted companies using equity method RERREREBL - (4,499,456)
Others Hb 613,458 658,290
613,458 19,383,504

There is no significant restriction on the repatriation of investment income of

the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SOtE R IEE MsTw

STATEMENTS (Continued)

(22) Income tax (credits)/expenses

(22) Fr88L(&1E) & H

Six months ended 30 June

EHZ6H30R1L6EA
2023 2022
20234 20224
Current income tax calculated based on tax law and  32%i% M AEBIR E st 20 E B 1E5H
related regulations 220,265 -
Deferred income tax EIEFTSHL (13,441,981) 18,102,286
(13,221,716) 18,102,286

(23) Loss per share

(23) BRIEE

(a)  Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing consolidated net (loss)/profit  (a) EAGRGENGENES AR EERBERNA
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company by the weighted TFE B R AR R B BT NS B AR A hn i S £k
average number of outstanding ordinary shares of the Company: FE

Six months ended 30 June

EZ6H30R1L61EA
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Consolidated net loss attributable to ordinary FENE AR TR

shareholders of the Company (RMB) Ao FEE(AREIT) (50,620,355) (11,788,124)

Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary ~ ZN/Q &) 27T RSN B LAY INAE 39 2
shares of the Company (Share) (A%) 473,213,000 473,213,000
Basic loss per share (RMB) ErgREBARET) (0.11) (0.02)

(b)  Diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated net (loss)/  (b) WEESREBENREHBEBELRERAZEN

profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company adjusted based BN RAREERRENAFEERATE
on the dilutive potential ordinary shares by the adjusted weighted average ERARR R BITEIINT B NEFHETE -
number of outstanding ordinary shares of the Company. As there were no RAHRE  ARR TN FEABRBIENEEL®
dilutive potential ordinary shares during the period (for the six months ended f% (B Z= 20226 A308 L6187 : &) - EIitt -
30 June 2022: Nil), diluted loss per share equal to basic loss per share. WEERBESNEARNESRESE -

—E-—cahfRs.sEEPRREERGERAT [/



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥l B o

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%202346 5 30H 1617 /7 &

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(24) Dividends

(25) Supplementary information to the cash flow

(a)

/8

On 25 August 2023, the Board of Directors proposed not to distribute 2023
interim cash dividend (2022 interim cash dividend: Nil).

Pursuant to the resolution of the annual general meeting held on 27 June 27
2023, the Company did not distribute a final cash dividend for the year 2022
(final cash dividend for the year 2021: Nil).

(24) B A
7202348250 - EF & EHTHIK2023F F

SO EHRRIEEME @

HIR S B (2022F P HIIR S A - T) o

R#E2023F6 A27 AMBRRBF NG RE - A2
AR 2022F R B3R £ A (20215 2 R HIR

SRA T o

(25) REeEREBRBRER

statement
Reconciliation from net loss to cash flows from operating (a) S BEEATALETHEESRE
activities
Six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30R1L61EA
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Net loss F R (56,425,480) (25,467,996)
Add: Provision for expected credit losses e ERRERK 15,378,404 1,604,411
Depreciation of investment properties REHEHETE 25,898,330 25,843,636
Depreciation of fixed assets BEEEENTE 136,579,002 138,270,791
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 266,330,695 25,877,463
Amortisation of intangible assets I A E 8,489,746 8,489,746
Gains/(Losses) on disposal of assets BERBRZ(BX) (726,610) 240,408
Amortisation of long-term prepaid expenses REIFHEREE 468,312 469,432
Amortisation of deferred income R ST Wy o 8 (1,416,667) (1,416,667)
Losses arising from changes in fair value NABEEBEKX 4,857,759 5,390,335
Financial expenses M%ER 76,902,681 48,861,896
Investment income wE W= (613,458) (19,383,504)
(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax assets REFBREEGEM),HD (1,648,465) 16,998,449
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred tax liabilities BEFMBRAECRD), G (11,571,937) 1,103,837
Increase in inventories TFEH LN (152,572) (350,455)
(Increase)/Decrease in operating receivables R REYCE B & (38 hn) R (137,219,244) 18,546,403
Decrease in operating payables LRI B AR (86,601,059) (54,066,077)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEFDEENRESREFE 238,529,437 191,012,108
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SO B RKRIER MEw
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(25) Supplementary information to the cash flow (25) BEREXRBETER@®
statement (Continued)

(a) Reconciliation from net loss to cash flows from operating (a) BEEEFATALETIHRERE®
activities (Continued)

Significant operating, investing and financing activities that do not involve THERBEEKTHEAEE - KEFEET
cash receipts and payments &

Six months ended 30 June

HZ6H30A L6fEA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Other non-current financial assets increased in RERFTIE LA TR SRt R IR A
the current period to be repaid with ordinary HEMERBSmMEE
trust shares - 48,862,156
Right-of-use assets increase in the current period RERFTIER A E 1,574,686,575 -
1,574,686,575 48,862,156
(b) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (b) BERRESEEBEYEELHENR
Six months ended 30 June
HZ6H30H1L6MEA
2023 2022
20234 20224
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period ¥4 MIREEHE YKL EE 292,336,791 125,145,255
Less: Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning B R RIRSEEYREVISREE
of the period (119,427,073) (177,462,360)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents R % MIR&ZEYFE M, CRd) 172,909,718 (52,317,105)

(c)  For the six months ended 30 June 2023, the total cash outflow related to  (¢) & ZE202346 308 1618 A EAR - 45 @ X

leases paid by the Group amounted to RMB46,834,802 (for the six months rERERENBE SN A ARKA46,834,802
ended 30 June 2022: RMB48,129,241), of which RMB46,421,006 (for the TT(H 2202296 A30H [L61E A 8 : ARE
six months ended 30 June 2022: RMB47,449,675) was included in financing 48,129,2417T) - HFFHAEEZHENEEA
activities, to pay-off lease liabilities and the remaining cash outflow was BEXHEEEAARKA6,421,0067T (B 22022
included in operating activities. F6HA30B (L61E AR : AR¥A7,449,675

) EBRRERE R ALEED -

- CanERs.sEEFERE R ERAT /9



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥l B o

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

5 CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION %

There were no changes in the scope of consolidation for the current period.

SOEENEE

AWK B EAHBEOET -

== Y- Ee 3¢
6 INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES N EHMETEANER
(1) Equity in subsidiaries (1) EFLTEFRHER
(a) Particulars of group entities (a) EKEMER
Major business  Place of Registered Direct  Voting rights ~ Way of
Type of entity location registration  Nature of business capital  shareholding (%) acquisition
FRELH
EARR TEREY i ¥BHE AMER  EREERLA (%) BEAR
Hainan Meilan International Airport Limited liability company ~ Haikou Haikou Rendering of cargo services 20,000,000 51% 60%  Setup
Freight Co., Ltd ("Meilan Freight") (i
BREMEREEEEERAAN(ENEE)  ARELRA pealii Bom RLEERY RUBG
Hainan Ruigang Logistics Co., Ltd Limited liability company ~ Haikou Haikou Logistics services and business 50,000,000 100% 100%  Setup
(“Ruigang Logistics ") investment
BERENTERAA (HEMR]) AREALH AT &Om NERBRAXRE RIBF
Hainan Meilan Airport Hotel Investment Co., Ltd.  Limited liability company ~ Haikou Haikou Hotel investment and operation 5,000,000 100% 100%  Setup
("Meilan Airport Hotel")
BEXBREEEREERAA BREERA gAm Bam BERERE RUBG

([EHBEEE)

(i) The percentage of shareholding in Meilan Freight held by the Company is (i)
51%. The key operating and financial decisions of Meilan Freight are made
by the Board of Directors. The resolution of the Board of Directors should be
subject to the approval of at least half of the directors who attend the Board
of Directors’ meeting. The Company has the right to designate 3 out of total
5 board members in Meilan Freight, so the Company has the voting rights of
60% in it.

RAARIHEHEENIRLOAS1%  EEWE
BEFXrELERMBOARAEFTSHEL  EF2
REEVEEAEEESTSEEN D2 —HE
FRESEEB  EHEEEFINE RS
AARERIRLIZRES AR HEAHIRR
1151 /260% ©

The Group does not have a significant minority interest in subsidiaries. AEBNFEEELERRERN T AT -

There is no restriction of the use of the Group's assets nor the settlement of the AEEAFAEFAEEEENSECREEIANRE

liability of the Group. il o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 & %2023%6 530 H 1618 5 4

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (B4 585}

INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (continued)

N #EH

P BB BARET)

fERAPNER @

Interests in associates (2) EHELEDPESR
General information of associates (a) BHELEMNERFEE
Whether strategic to the
Major business location  Place of registration Nature of business Group's activities Shareholding (%)
HEEEBHRE
TERE il EBME ARERH R LAl
Hainan Konggang Haikou, Hainan province Haikou, Hainan province Property development, resort operation, Yes 30%
eco-agriculture development and
gardening
BEE BEEEam BEEEOm NERE  KEEREERE = 30%
FREERT  gEZ
HNA Airport Holdings (i) Haikou, Hainan province Haikou, Hainan province Airport operation and ground handling  Yes 245%
services; airport investment, holding,
constructing and rebuilding
S ERI) BEEEam BEEEOm WRBEERTARE  #5RE. =R 24.5%
iR B e
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. REESH EREREDRAEREZE -

(i)

The percentage of the shareholding held by the Group is 24.5%. The
Board of HNA Airport Holdings consists of 7 directors and 1 director is
nominated by the Group and therefore, the Group is able to exercise
significant influence over HNA Airport Holdings and regards it as an
associate of the Group.

HNA Airport Holdings Group is principally engaged in the operation
and management of Sanya Phoenix Airport. HNA Airport Holdings, a
subsidiary of Hainan Airport Infrastructure Co., Ltd (formerly known
as "HNA Infrastructure Investment Group Company Limited")
(“Hainan Airport”) has been included in the Hainan Airport
Restructuring in February 2021 and recorded a deficit in equity
attributable to shareholders of approximately RMB1.86 billion as at 31
December 2022.

HNA Airport Holdings Group recorded a net profit attributable to
shareholders of approximately RMB160 million for the six months
ended 30 June 2023. As at 30 June 2023, HNA Airport Holdings
Group still recorded a deficit in equity attributable to shareholders of
approximately RMB1.66 billion. Thus the Group’s long term equity
investment in HNA Airport Holdings Group remained nil.

(i)

SE SRR .

AEBEHGMEBIEROZRE A
24.5% c BMEIGIERNESGHTRE
$iﬂﬁfz HA1ZmALEETD  #WA
BE AT MBI R e N E AR

4 EﬂEz%Hﬁ% EhERE -

Ez‘m*%%? S = 282 = 5 MBS
BEER SNBSS EREEREHEE
E‘“?jﬂzﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁﬂﬁ Al fE R MERR
BRRESERGERARD (FEEHES])
BWF AT R2021F2AMA BB E
B WHR2022F12A31BAHKREREB
REARFEBEHN/ARE186ET

B =2023F6A30H 1L6fE A #E - B
BISEREEESRE AR RRNFER

R ARE16187T - 20236 H30RE
it 2 reibe Qe S 1)37,%5?%/\
R¥16.6(87T  AEEEEREIGIER
B RAREREDAST -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT SRR BT a

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

7

(1)
(a)

(c)

32

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") of the Group has been
identified as the Executive Directors and senior management led by the
president of the Company. Management reviews the Group's internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management
has determined the operating segments based on these reports.

Management considers the Group conducts its business within one business
segment — the business of operating an airport and a hotel and provision
of related services in the PRC and the Group also operates within one
geographical segment because its revenues are primarily generated from and
its assets are located in the PRC.

RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Information of the parent company
General information of the parent company:

Place of registration

AN

(1)

(a)

/-\ﬁlzrzl_,\
AEEBESLERRETCERNTES RELH
FETHSRERE - EEERHAIMME U
HEERDRER - ERBER LRREERD
BRI

ERERR/TERER —EITERLEER - /A
B E — A R E B 5 I 1= AR R AR
%o A - AR AEENKRTIEREGTEHR - K
BEMINTE - REBER —EmEALEE
7% o

FEERLTBEERRARS

FRAER
FBRAERER

Nature of business

it EBHE
Haikou Meilan Haikou, Hainan Province Air transportation and ground handling services
HAER BEEEAM Rz E s kit mRIRRE
Registered capital and changes in registered capital of the (b) BATFEMEARAREEL :
parent company:
30 June 2023 and
31 December 2022
2023F6H30A K&

2022F12H31H

peAmES]

Haikou Meilan

4,137,105,499

The percentages of shareholding and voting rights in the
Company held by the parent company:

(c)

FATEARQ TR HIFRAE
EE 4 -

30 June 2023 and 31 December 2022
2023F6H30H &% 20225F12831H
Shareholding (%) Voting rights (%)

HFR A% RIRBELL 5%

Y OER

Haikou Meilan

50.19 50.19
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

8 RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY N BEHIFBRERREXRZ®
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2) Information of other related parties (2) HthFEBEHLSER

Relationship with the Group
EAREENER

The State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Committee of
Hainan Provincial Government (“Hainan SASAC")
BHEABNREEELEEBEEZES((BHEREZR))

25

Global Consumer Goods (Hainan) Trading Company Limited

HEBBR S ESARAT

Hainan Bo'ao Airport Management Co., Ltd.
HEEERISEREERAA

Hainan Haikong Environment Technology Holding Co., Ltd.
RS ERREH AR AR

Hainan Haila Business Management Co., Ltd.

BESNEEERERAR

Hainan Property Management Group Co., Ltd. (“Hainan PM") Nete!
HEMEEREROERAR(EEYEEE)™

Zhiyu Technology Company Limited
BFEREERAE

Sansha Yongxing Airport Management Co., Ltd.
=SB E R G RAE

Haikou Haikong Yaocheng Beautiful Village Construction Co., Ltd.
BOEEENEBRNEREGRETAT

Hainan Haikong Zhongnengjian Engineering Co., Ltd.
R ETIR AR AR

Has significant influence on the parent company

B |

HERRBEARE

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHE T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHE T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHE T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHE T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHEZ T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHEZ T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHEZ T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmE HEE T

Under control of Hainan SASAC
ZEmEHE T

33

BRI ERA A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

8 RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY N BHITRARRERXS®

(2)

34

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Information of other related parties (Continued)

(2) Ht=E@EB S HBER@®

Relationship with the Group
BEAKE R

According to the implementation of HNA Group Substantive Consolidated k1% GMEBEEEZ A HEZS | HTIEX - KX T2 AR
Restructuring, the following companies are no longer related parties of the 2022948 1~& 57 E FEGHE T -

Group in April 2022:

HNA Group
B

Hainan Traffic Administration Holdings Company Limited

(“Hainan Traffic Holdings")
e ARAR(ERER]

Haikou Meilan International Airport Passenger Transport Co., Ltd.

BOXHBERESTEERAETAF

HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd.
BMEEEEGRAR

HNA Tourism Group Co. Ltd.
BRI R E AR AR

Hainan Traffic & Service Co. Ltd.
V8 FA IR A3 AR TS B BR A F)

HNA Hotel (Group) Co., Ltd.
EEE(RE) AR AR

Hainan HNA International Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

BREMBEERBEEERMBERIF

HNA Group Finance Co., Ltd.
B EE M B ERA R

Honor (Sanya) Aviation Service Co., Ltd.

BRE(ERMZERBERAF

Has significant influence on the parent company

HERRAEATE

Has significant influence on the parent company

HERRAEATE

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez

Under control of HNA Group
e E ez

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez

Under control of HNA Group
ek E ez
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(2)

(3)
(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY VAN
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Information of other related parties (Continued) (2)

HETRERRER IS @

HtEZ@B LT IFR @

Relationship with the Group
BEAKE R

Eking Technology Co., Ltd.
SMEHER G BR A A

Hainan New Generation Lottery Co., Ltd.

BEAEFEHERA

Yangpu Guoxing Construction Co., Ltd.
FEREETIZRRERA

Hainan HNA China Duty Free Merchandise Co., Ltd.
arEmT eeRmAaR AT

Note 1: Hainan PM was renamed from Hainan HNA Property Management Co., Ltd. to
Hainan Property Management Group Co., Ltd. in January 2022.

Significant related party transactions (3)
Pricing policies (a)
The Group's pricing on goods purchased from related parties, and services
provided to or received from related parties are based on market price. Lease
payments are negotiated by both parties involved in the lease arrangements

and by making reference to the market price. The interest rates of deposits
maintained with related parties of the Group are mutually agreed by taking

into consideration of deposit interest rates of commercial banks over the

same period.

Under control of HNA Group
X8 A B A

Under control of HNA Group
X8 A B A

Under control of Hainan Traffic Holdings

X8R AR B

Under common control of HNA Group and other companies

s B EE b AR H RS

1 BEYESEN202261 AREEEMYEER
BOBERARERRBENEEEARNBARLD
Al e

EXREBRRS

EEHE

7 52 (5] [7) B Bk 73 PR B0 2 o DA % (e B G 5 B2 01 45
Bk B R EIBBEOERATISERIERE
BER  HEBTNHESRE2EMSERLY
T HEREETE o AKEFRERE T W FRN A
R2EFERTABEARMNEELE T iR ®

.
F o

Purchase of goods or receiving of services (b) RBEVRIEZTHK
Six months ended 30 June
EHZ6H30R1L61EA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC G BB T HI A BA 57,177,360 41,768,597
Haikou Meilan HBOERE - 30,150,020
Related parties under control of HNA Group i S B ) A B - 1,912,413
57,177,360 73,831,030

—E-CEhHBs eI HEREREERMEARAT  SD



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

8 RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY N BHITRARRERXS®
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(3) Significant related party transactions (Continued) (3) EXBERZ @
(c) Rendering of services (c) REEHE®
Six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30A L6fEA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC XA BEE TR 32,971,535 12,331,092
Haikou Meilan O ERH 220,487 -
Related parties under control of HNA Group 2 fin S5 B2 1) ) BA Bk - 681,412
33,192,022 13,012,504
(d) Leases (d) &
Rental income in the current year with the Group as the lessor: AEBEALHEAEFERNBERA
Six months ended 30 June
HZ6H30H1L6MEA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC G BE T Hl A BA 47,200 -
Increase of right-of-use assets in the current period with the Group as the NEBEREMBT E MG HEREEE :
lessee:
Six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30A L6fEA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Haikou Meilan psamE S| 1,574,686,575 -
Interest costs on lease liabilities in the current period with the Group as the AEEEARFEAFEHAENHEESGERN X
lessee: H e
Six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30H1L61EA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Haikou Meilan B OER 34,520,262 1,836,696
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

8 RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(3) Significant related party transactions (Continued)
(e) Co-borrowing

N BEIBERERRERZw®

(3) EXBEEBRSZ @

(e) HEMEK

Six months ended 30 June

HZ6H30A LL6fEA
2023 2022
Haikou Meilan BOXER 2023%F 20224
- Ending balance - HiR %8 3,127,000,000 3,232,000,000
For details, please refer to Note 8(5)(b). FHIERBE2RMEEAG)Db)
()  Remuneration of key management (f) EAREIEAEEHN
Six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30A L6fEA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Remuneration of key management FAREEABFN 3,844,174 2,239,796

Key management personnel include executive directors, non-executive
directors, president, vice president, joint company secretary, chief financial
officer and supervisors of the Company.
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8 RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(4) Balances with related parties
(a) Accounts receivable

(4) EREBEHSEAEE
(a) FEWERFX

N BEIBERERRERZw®

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6A30H 12H31H
Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC G BE T Hl A BA 48,486,357 33,867,364
Haikou Meilan BOER 11,912 -
48,498,269 33,867,364

(b) Other receivables (b) EAEUWER
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6A30H 12H31H
Haikou Meilan HRER 41,229,010 41,212,414
Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC ZEmA A T R R - 103,319
41,229,010 41,315,733

(c) Accounts payable (c) FEMRERF

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
6A30H 12H31H
Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC GmA B A Z R R 51,657,403 61,324,342
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8 RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY N BBIBEREREXZ®

TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(4) Balances with related parties (Continued) (4) EXBESGHE®

(d) Other payables (d) HbEMARK
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234F 20224
6H30H 128318

(e)

Haikou Meilan

Related parties under control of Hainan SASAC

BOES

S A B A & i e B e

1,285,882,024
19,304,802

1,458,978,727
17,392,764

1,305,186,826

1,476,371,491

Long-term payables

(e)

REEAR

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234F 20224
6A30H 12H31H
Haikou Meilan OER 774,133,098 774,133,098

(f) Directors’ remuneration payable (f) ENESEHMH
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Directors’ remuneration EES a0l 301,001 597,183

(g) Lease liabilities (g) HEE®E

30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234 20224
6H30H 12H31H
Haikou Meilan BOER 1,603,259,994 64,342,557

TR CCFPHRESAEIFEREERNHARAA
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8

(5)

(a)

90

RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Significant asset acquisition and cooperative
investment project with related parties

Terminal Expansion Project

On 26 August 2011 and 12 December 2012, the Company entered into a
Land Use Right Transfer Agreement and an Investment and Construction
Agreement with Haikou Meilan in respect of construction of an international
terminal, expansion of west gallery of the terminal and a number of ancillary
projects in the Meilan Airport (the “Terminal Expansion Project”).

Pursuant to the Land Use Right Transfer Agreement, in order to facilitate the
construction of the Terminal Expansion Project and the possession of relevant
property title certificate(s) as a whole by Haikou Meilan, the Company will
transfer the land use rights for a site area of 125 acres to Haikou Meilan at
a consideration of RMB31,289,734. As at 30 June 2023, the Company had
received the consideration of land use right transfer of RMB31,128,973 from
Haikou Meilan.

Pursuant to the Investment and Construction Agreement, Haikou Meilan
is responsible for the completion of the Terminal Expansion Project, and
undertakes that, upon completion of the construction of the Terminal
Expansion Project and before the transfer of the assets of the Terminal
Expansion Project to the Company, Haikou Meilan shall not transfer or
dispose of any assets of the Terminal Expansion Project to any third party,
and the Company is exclusively entitled to operate the Terminal Expansion
Project. The construction of the international terminal and the auxiliary
projects, and the west gallery expansion project and the auxiliary projects had
been completed and put into use in 2013 and 2015 respectively (Note 4(6)).
As at 30 June 2023, the settlement of land considerations and property title
certificate(s) of these projects were still in progress.

AN

(5)

(a)
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31,128,9737T °
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RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

AN

BHITBERERERS®

Significant asset acquisition and cooperative (5) EXBEBAIEEWEBREIEREE
investment project with related parties (Continued) B @
Phase Il Expansion Project (b) —HiEZBIER
On 21 August 2015, the Company and Haikou Meilan entered into an (i) 20158 A21H » AR R EE O £/ 5t R
Investment and Construction Agreement in respect of the joint construction BOHEREERIURERR MR HATESS
of Phase Il Expansion Project, which has specified the allocation of the BEAZBEENDEANEEAZER 2HBEEEDN
construction sub-projects and the ownership of the relevant assets of sub- HEERE  AABEARMIGIE RBMRE 8
projects constructed by the two parties respectively. The Company undertook A ERAEIS 38 RAB R - ARG OXER
the construction of the terminal and related facilities while Haikou Meilan EA_HIEZBE VEEREK BRARFER
undertook the construction of the airport runway and related facilities. As HEPEEENKRALRAY  BARQRIIEEER
Haikou Meilan was the project representative of Phase Il Expansion Project REMBEK BB BEONEHNTREBREN
and the Company was not a project representative and could not become a SE MEREBSOERIN LMIE -8
contracting party of the related contract or a payer of related payments, the OEMEERZEEE TR MBRIKE AR A
costs and expenses incurred by the Company during the construction of the EERERNASEEREE 2 HBEEZHESR
project were paid by Haikou Meilan on behalf of the Company. Haikou Meilan o BEETEATERAEREFE I MEES
agreed to register the relevant assets constituting the sub-project constructed - FEE N REHRE - A& LR - B
by the Group under the ownership of the Company after the completion and ARBIBETNBRARRERBEECEERHS
acceptance of construction of the Phase Il Expansion Project, including but R - AR BB REDARS O ER AT EAR
not limited to the land use right and the property ownership of buildings. B2 ERARFPBREAEEENERT 158
Meanwhile, Haikou Meilan irrevocably agreed, promised and confirmed that FA ZRMHEEBRARRERBEEZEE -
the Company had the right to occupy, use, benefit from and dispose of the
assets constituting the sub-projects constructed by the Company without any
payment to Haikou Meilan or restriction of laws and regulations of China until
the title certificates of the assets had been registered under the name of the
Company.
According to the Investment and Construction Agreement, the budgeted RIBRERZEDE AR A AEERIBH B
costs of the parts to be constructed by the Company amounted to WESENAANRET 6T - R2020F5411
approximately RMB7.16 billion. On 11 May 2020, the Company signed a B AARESOXZHEHESHAGE - ~AQ7F
supplementary agreement with Haikou Meilan, the budgeted costs of the EEBHIBRESEEMEARKET6.5(ET - B
parts to be constructed by the Company increased to RMB7.65 billion. On 2 20215 12H20 - ZHERIBE TIEE BRI 5T
December 2021, the Phase Il Expansion Project was completed and put into B R A BB AL A -
use after acceptance by Civil Aviation Administration.
As mentioned above, Haikou Meilan, as the legal representative of the Phase mEFTIL - BOXEEEA-—BEEMNEBEEA
Il Expansion Project, applied and obtained funds from local governments to NEAZRIE_HEB LS HRAMS BTER
finance the construction of the Phase Il Expansion Project. Haikou Meilan is Bd BOERAREHFBTSIBNEREBGR
the borrower of specific loans allocated from local government, funds were MEREE BB ASOERBER MR
remitted to the bank accounts of Haikou Meilan specifically for payments REFEEANSN_HEEIRENR  2EF0E
of construction fees of the Phase Il Expansion Project including the parts Mk AR AE BARMNED o #iZ2023F6H30
undertaken by Haikou Meilan or the Company. As at 30 June 2023, the B AAREMEOEHIRBIEFAARE
construction fees of the Group of RMB360 million and RMB860 million 6B WEAHHEFRRENEHNEEDX
have been paid and will be paid by Haikou Meilan on behalf of the Group N IEZFHNABARKS6IET - EERNEH
respectively, the total amounts were disclosed as other payables to Haikou REE (M \(4)(d) BB - ZWIEENRIER
Meilan in Note 8(4)(d). 80 XM EMENRIIR
—EocehmRs.smEREnEERnERas 91
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(b)
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RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Significant asset acquisition and cooperative
investment project with related parties (Continued)
Phase Il Expansion Project (Continued)

Specifically for financing the construction of Phase |l Expansion Project,
Haikou Meilan, as the borrower, and the Company, as the co-borrower, have
entered into a RMB Syndicated Loan Agreement for the Phase Il Expansion
Project of Haikou Meilan International Airport (the “Syndicated Loan
Agreement”) with China Development Bank, Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China and Agricultural Bank of China with a principal of RMB7.8 billion
and a term of 20 years. As at 31 December 2022, the interest rate of the
Syndicated Loan Agreement was 3.9%, with the interest being paid quarterly.
The principal would be repaid in instalments starting on 21 December
2022, with the last repayment due on 21 September 2037. According to
the Syndicated Loan Agreement, the Company and Haikou Meilan jointly
undertake the repayment obligation for each loan drawn down under the
Syndicated Loan Agreement and are jointly and equally liable for the debt
repayment (the “Joint Repayment Commitment”). The obligations of
Haikou Meilan stipulated in the Syndicated Loan Agreement, such as draw-
down and repayment, event of default and liability of default, are all applicable
to the Company.

The Company and Haikou Meilan entered into an agreement to specify the
allocation of a loan of RMB7.8 billion in the Syndicated Loan Agreement, and
the Company and Haikou Meilan were allocated RMB3.9 billion respectively.
Other key terms of the agreement are set out below:

o The airport land use (Note 4(8)) and the buildings (Note 4(6)) of
the Company were pledged as collateral for the Syndicated Loan.
Meanwhile, the Company agreed to pledge Phase Il Expansion Project
land, aboveground buildings and the assets arising from the completion
of the Phase |l Expansion Project (including but not limited to land
and buildings above ground) as the collateral for the Syndicated Loan.
The Company has not obtained the relevant land use rights for the
Phase Il Expansion Project. The Company would handle the mortgage
registration formalities according to the land ownership. Details of
investment properties, fixed assets and land use rights of the Phase |l
Expansion Project of the Company are disclosed in Note 4(5), Note 4(6)
and Note 4(8), respectively;

A\

(5)

(ii)

BHITBERERERS®
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RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Significant asset acquisition and cooperative
investment project with related parties (Continued)

Phase Il Expansion Project (Continued)

(Continued)

. Haikou Meilan pledged its own part of the land use rights and
buildings, Phase Il Expansion Project land and aboveground buildings
(the mortgage registration formalities would be handled according to
the land ownership), assets arising from the completion of Phase |l
Expansion Project (including but not limited to land and buildings above
ground). Haikou Meilan has not obtained the relevant land use rights
for the Phase Il Expansion Project. Haikou Meilan will complete the
registration of the pledge of assets after the land use right certificates
are obtained;

As of 30 June 2023, the draw-down of the Syndicated Loan totalled to
approximately RMB5.18 billion, with accumulative repayment of principal
of RMBO0.11 billion, of which Haikou Meilan has outstanding principal of
RMB3.13 billion and the Company has outstanding principal of RMB1.94
billion.

In respect of the amounts of the Syndicated Loan accumulatively drawn
down by Haikou Meilan, the Company should consider the expected credit
losses of the Joint Repayment Commitment, the Company evaluated the ECL
provision for Joint Repayment Commitments on the basis of expected credit
losses developed by the main parameters including probability of default, loss
given default and exposure undertook by the Company for Joint Repayment
Commitment, and has accordingly recognised “other current liabilities = Joint
Repayment Commitment” of RMB2,624,949 as at 30 June 2023(As at 31
December 2022: RMB2,624,949).
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CONTINGENCIES

The Company started to prepare for the issuance of additional domestic
shares and no more than 200 million new H shares in 2016. On 29
September 2019, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with
Aero Infrastructure Holding Company Limited (the “Applicant”), pursuant
to which the Applicant agreed to subscribe and the Company agreed to
issue 200 million new H shares of the Company provided that the pre-
conditions, including but not limited to the approval from China Securities
Regulatory Commission, can be fulfilled on or before 25 June 2020 or
otherwise being waived by the contractual parties. After entering into the
subscription agreement, the Company has carried out a series of actions to
fulfill the agreement. However, as of the expiry date of the authorisation,
the preconditions of the completion have not been fully satisfied. On
23 December 2020, the Applicant filed an arbitration with Hong Kong
International Arbitration Centre claiming that the Company had breached the
subscription agreement and claiming for damages not exceeding HKD6,962
million and relevant arbitration fees.

In June 2023, the Company received the first stage arbitration award of the
above arbitration case, in which the majority opinion of the arbitration tribunal
determined that the Company failed to use its best endeavors to facilitate the
transaction of the subscription agreement, and therefore the Company was
found to have breached the contract. The arbitration case will hold the hearing
of second phase in the second half of 2023 to determine whether there is
causation between the breach of contract and the damages claimed by the
Applicant, and the amount of damages that the Applicant is entitled to if there
is causation. Based on this, whether the company needs to compensate to
the Applicant for losses and the amount of compensation will be subject to
the results of the second phase arbitration case.

As at the date of these the financial statements, the arbitration is in progress
subjecting to the result of second stage. Taking into account the opinion of
the arbitration lawyers, the management is of the view that at this stage,
there is significant uncertainty as to the arbitration tribunal’s possible
determination on the causation between the Company’s failure to use its
best endeavors to facilitate the transaction of the subscription agreement
and the damages claimed by the Applicant, thus it is impossible to predict
the outcome of the arbitration case. Even if there is causation, there still
is great uncertainty to make estimate of the amount of the Company's
obligation. Therefore, the arbitration case does not meet the conditions for
the recognition of provision, but it is disclosed as a contingent liability.
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10 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEETDATE 1+ ¥E&@KXKAXBEE

There were no important events affecting the Group that have occurred since MR2023F6A30H1%  WEBEEFMEAERF
30 June 2023. BREBOEM -

11 OPERATING LEASE PROCEEDS AFTERTHE +-¥EESEXRAAKEHEK

BALANCE SHEET DATE M
As the lessor, the Group’s undiscounted lease proceeds receivable after the REBEEALEA  BEAGBRBRERNEE
balance sheet date are as follows: W ERARITR S EELNT ¢
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
20234 20224
6A30H 12A31H
Within 1 year —FELR 27,338,196 13,259,170
1to 2 years —R|=F 16,221,282 10,488,475
2 to 3 years —R=%F 6,563,820 542,388
50,123,298 24,290,033
12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS +tZ&m T B R HERRE
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk AEENKE RS ESRER : THR
(primarily interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall B(EZAFERR)  ERREBMREER - &K
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial FEEZENRREREHEERTIENTAIE
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's B kB EEAEEN S EENBETNE
financial performance. 2o
(1) Interest rate risk (1) F=@bE
The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from long-term interest-bearing AEENMNERBREZELENRIER L REE
borrowings including long-term borrowings and long-term payables. Financial NRERPAFEER - FHAENSHBEFER
liabilities issued at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate SEERASREMNERR BEEFNENE/E
risk, while those issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest BEAEBREAREBEENEZRR - REBIRE
rate risk. The Group determines the relative proportions of its fixed rate and ERMMESRERATEEMERZHINEXE
floating rate contracts depending on the prevailing market conditions. As ERHEE ] - 722023F6A30H @ NEEIRE
at 30 June 2023, the Group's Syndicated Loan was denominated in RMB ERABAREHENBETEMNEER - £BAA
with a fixed interest rate, of which the amount was RMB1,944,000,000 (31 R1,944,000,0007T(2022F 124318 : AR
December 2022: Fixed rate contracts of RMB1,944,000,000). 1,944,000,0007CH) ETE F| EE& F)

—E-CahgRs.smEREREsRAsRAT 9D
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(1)

(2)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS

(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group's finance department continuously monitors the interest rate
position of the Group. Increases in interest rates will increase the cost of new
interest-bearing borrowings and the interest expenses with respect to the
Group's outstanding floating rate interest bearing borrowings, and therefore
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance.
Management makes adjustments timely with reference to the latest market
conditions and may enter into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate its
exposure to interest rate risk. For the six months ended 30 June 2023 and
2022, the Group did not enter into any interest rate swap agreements.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from monetary funds accounts
receivable, other receivables and the provision of Joint Repayment
Commitment for the Syndicated Loan drawn by Haikou Meilan. As at the
balance sheet date, the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets has
represented the maximum credit risk exposure of the Group; the maximum
credit risk exposure off balance sheet is the maximum amount of RMB3.13
billion to be paid for fulfilment of Joint Repayment Commitment for the
drawn Syndicated Loan drawn by Haikou Meilan.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed by each subsidiary of the Group for
its own cash flow forecasting. The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group's short-term and long-term liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash and securities that are readily convertible to cash to meet
operational needs, while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities from major financial institutions so that the
Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its borrowing
facilities to meet the short-term and long-term liquidity requirements.

As at 30 June 2023, the risk assessment of cash flows that made by
management was detailed in Note 2(1).

These interim financial statements do not include all financial risk
management information and disclosures required in the annual financial
statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Group's annual
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

There have been no significant changes in the risk management department
or in any risk management policies since 31 December 2022.
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13 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES

(1)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIS ¥ Rk I ot

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;%2023%6 /130 H 1-61E A 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

The level in which fair value measurement is categorised is determined by
the level of the fair value hierarchy of the lowest level input that is significant
to the entire fair value measurement:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (1)
As at 30 June 2023, the assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are
listed as follows according to the above three levels:

T= A REEME

ARBEFEERMBNER  AY QA BER
ERXEMSAAEEEZNO N NEMBNRIER
RRTE -

F—ER: HREERRELRERTS LREH
EHME -

E_BR:BRE-EBRAAEIMIBEEEREE
HRAREAIBENBAE -

B=ZRBIR: EREEXBENTABEEAE -
%nlﬁﬂljl’/{i\\ U1T{E%§HIJ§E

R2023F6 7308 - HENURA A BEFENE
ER b= EARRIRIT ¢

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-BX EZEBR E=BR aF
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets held for trading - RHMEREE -
Investments in equity instruments XM ERIARE
held for trading 23,418,974 - - 23,418,974
Other non-current financial assets - HMERBeREE -
Beneficial interests fEetl e - - 49,057,863 49,057,863
23,418,974 - 49,057,863 72,476,837

The Group takes the date on which events causing the transfers between the
levels take place as the timing specific for recognising the transfers. There is
no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 for the current period.

For financial instruments traded in an active market, the Group determines its
fair value based on its quoted price in an active market.

ZEZ=FRHRSE

FEENEHEBAZHAERNFRE LA R
EE%}’KZFE.?ET;@E’UH%% o RS —BRE
E-BRENER -

HREERTS EXHNERMIA - AEBIAE
BRI HEREEAABE - HRAEERT
i%t?&%ﬁ’]/iﬁﬂli REERB S ERINEE
HRAREE- FﬁfﬁﬁﬁE’MEE@’*”IKF%L%%WE
%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂm%‘ftb RIERIZ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% < P

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

13 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES (continued) = A AEBEMGT®
(2) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but (2) FUDAEBEFEEREEQAAE
for which the fair value is disclosed BENEENEE
Financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group measured at amortised AEENESRKATENSREENSRAEZE
cost mainly include receivables, payables, short-term borrowing, lease TEE BRETE  ERRE - BHER - HE
liabilities, Syndicated Loans for the Phase Il Expansion Project and long-term BF - —HEZBEEZBEREEFNEHEMNK
payables. =
The carrying amount of the financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair ZETUARBEAENEREENSRBREDN
value is a reasonable approximation of their fair value. IREEEEAREEEZRZR) -
14 NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL T 2 B B 7 3R 3R MY =
STATEMENTS
(1) Long-term equity investments (1) RERERE
30 June 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
6H30H 12A318
Subsidiaries FARE]
- Unlisted companies -3 EmAF 15,200,000 15,200,000
Associated company i /NG|
- Unlisted companies - JEEmARA 8,349,494 8,349,494
Less: Provision for impairment of long-term B REAREREREER

equity investments -

23,549,494 23,549,494

There is no significant restriction on the realisation of long-term investments. KRB TN FERBREEHENERRG -

98 HAINAN MEILAN INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT COMPANY LIMITED e INTERIM REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥k B

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #;% 20234630 H 1F618 5 2
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (BFIE8A) - & EBE 7 BARKT)

14 NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL 0 A T B R R M aE
STATEMENTS (Continued)
(2) Revenue, cost of sales, and general and (2) EEWANEERS  EEEH

administrative expenses

Six months ended 30 June

H Z6A308 LL6fEA
2023 2022
Revenue EEL'ON 2023% 20224
Aeronautical business: Mz R
Passenger service income RERS & 228,912,963 98,063,591
Ground handling service income HE AR B 153,527,778 59,392,918
Fees and related charges on aircraft take-off and MRS AR R E
landing 95,627,630 45,552,220
478,068,371 203,008,729
Non-aeronautical business: FEMTZE TS -
Franchise income Frar S A 325,387,703 230,507,465
Rental income WA 71,674,242 60,557,040
VIP room income HEEEWA 15,112,466 20,005,729
Other income E AU A 91,182,373 39,652,166
503,356,784 350,722,400
981,425,155 553,731,129
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 ¥l B o

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 #%20234630H 1-61E 7 4
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated) (Br# 585" - % BB BARKIT)

14 NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL 0 A B B 7 3 2k Bt o o
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(2) Revenue, cost of sales, and general and (2) BEWANMEERKN  EEEHR
administrative expenses (Continued) (480
Cost of sales and general and administrative expenses mainly include the EERAREEBERFTEZMATIEEHEK

following items:

Six months ended 30 June

B Z6H30A L6fEA
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAERERRA 266,330,695 17,190,804
Employee salaries and benefit expenses BITERENER 249,499,573 95,579,366
Depreciation of fixed assets BEEENEER 134,736,837 135,946,695
Utilities KEE 45,667,913 23,528,510
Cleaning and environment maintenance TBRNIRIGHES 39,829,110 25,694,964
Repairs and maintenance “HIEER 37,682,150 20,285,371
Outsourcing and sub-contracted labour costs BN RETEIKEE A 28,194,829 30,431,566
Depreciation of investment properties REGEHEREER 25,898,330 25,843,636
Security guard service ZIRRH B 21,430,658 16,540,717
Amortisation of land use rights - s {5 PR A 6K 8,469,655 8,469,655
Handling fees of CAAC Settlement Centre RMBEHRLFEE 2,595,495 1,286,417
Others Eh 62,248,293 54,720,615
922,583,538 455,518,316
For the six months ended 30 June 2023, there is no lease payments of short- HZE2023F6A308 L61A A B - AAREER
term leases and low-value leases that the Company directly recognised in BT AEHBRENEHREENEEERENTES
profit or loss (For the six months ended 30 June 2022: Nil). S (B = 2022569308 1-61# B HAR : ) o
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